University of South Carolina Scholar Commons

Theses and Dissertations

2018

What are the Effects of Curriculum Compacting on Students' Ability to Use Higher Order Thinking?

Anthony L. James University of South Carolina - Columbia

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarcommons.sc.edu/etd Part of the <u>Curriculum and Instruction Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

L. James, A.(2018). What are the Effects of Curriculum Compacting on Students' Ability to Use Higher Order Thinking?. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from https://scholarcommons.sc.edu/etd/4924

This Open Access Dissertation is brought to you by Scholar Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholar Commons. For more information, please contact dillarda@mailbox.sc.edu.



What are the Effects of Curriculum Compacting on Students' Ability to Use Higher-Order Thinking?

by

Anthony L. James

Bachelor of Arts and Sciences Winthrop University, 2005

Master of Education Columbia College, 2009

Master of Arts in Teaching College of Charleston, 2012

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of Doctor of Education in

Curriculum and Instruction

College of Education

University of South Carolina

2018

Accepted by:

Toby Jenkins-Henry, Major Professor

Michele Myers, Committee Member

Stephen Thompson, Committee Member

Teresa Turner, Committee Member

Cheryl L. Addy, Vice Provost and Dean of the Graduate School

© Copyright by Anthony L. James, 2018 All Rights Reserved.

DEDICATION

First, I would like to thank my Lord and Savior, Jesus Christ. Philippians 4:13 says, "I can do all things through Christ who strengthens me." I am certain that He was my strength throughout this process. This project and my degree are dedicated to Kiara. This accomplishment started from your vision. Throughout the many trials, you held down our home and ensured that our children were well taken care of, and I appreciate you. To my two beautiful children, Amahri and Brielle, I love you. You two are my reasons for living. My time now belongs to you! To my parents, thank you for your love throughout the years. Mom, I am grateful for every sacrifice you made raising me as a single parent. You are my heart! Granny and Pop, I could not have asked for better grandparents. I love you both! I could not have done with this without your support. This accomplishment is for my siblings, whom are all very successful. Your success inspired me. We do not compete, we celebrate all wins. I love you all. To my baby brother, Aareyun, I miss you, and I will continue to live for you.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Also, thank you to my in-laws. You all supported and loved me from day one. I would like to thank my best friend, Terrell. Brother, you never let any circumstance stop your support for me. I appreciate that. I'd like to recognize my bestie, Alicia!! We've laughed, cried, and prayed together. I appreciate your dedication to our friendship and the love you've given to me. I want to recognize my sister, soror, and godmother to my children, Amanda. We met in the 9th grade and since then we've graduated from Summerville high school and Winthrop University on the same day. We've also earned our masters' degree, and our doctorates in the same years. You were meant to be a part of my journey! I also want to thank Corinna. You are my business partner, encourager, part-time editor, and the little voice in the back of my head. I appreciate you and your friendship. Thank you for always being in my corner! If there is anyone that I've forgotten, please forgive me. You are appreciated in my heart.

Dr. Toby Jenkins-Henry has been an amazing dissertation chairperson. I know our journey was not ideal; however, I appreciate your advice, insightful suggestions, and encouragement over the last year. Without your reassurance and guidance, this process would have been infinitely more difficult to complete. In addition, I want to thank the other members of my committee, Dr. Michele Myers, Dr. Stephen Thompson, and Dr. Teresa Turner, for their time and input during the completion of this dissertation. I appreciate you all!!

ABSTRACT

This action research study was a presentation of a problem of practice involving a perceived underdevelopment of higher-order thinking skills of gifted (GT) children. I identified a weakness in the previous current third-grade math curriculum that appeared to hinder the development of higher-order thinking skills. This observation led to the development of an intervention that included alternate teaching materials and strategies. The intervention aimed to address the effect of curricular modifications using a different teaching approach called *curriculum compacting*. Curriculum compacting (Reis, Burns, & Renzulli, 1993; Renzulli & Reis, 1994) is an instructional strategy that has been used to streamline learning activities for students who demonstrate proficiency on curricular objectives before teaching. The present study was guided by the following research question: What are the effects of curriculum compacting on students' ability to use higher-order thinking to solve complex math problems? The findings suggested that curriculum compacting was an effective intervention to increase higher-order thinking for gifted, third-grade students.

Keywords: action research, curriculum compacting, gifted, critical thinking, higher-order thinking, place value, and anxiety.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATIONiii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iv
ABSTRACTv
CHAPTER ONE: Introduction
Statement of Problem
Study Rationale7
Purpose of the Study
Theoretical Framework 11
Application of Theory12
Nature of the Study14
Action Research
Assumptions16
Limitations or Potential Weaknesses of the Study17
Delimitations17
Significance of the Study 17
Knowledge Generation
Professional Application

S	Social Change	20
Ι	Definition of Terms	23
	Conclusion and Summary	25
СНАРТ	TER TWO: Literature Review	27
,	The Underachievement of Gifted Students	31
,	Theoretical and Conceptual Frameworks	34
]	Higher-order thinking	36
	Impact of Education Environment	38
	Challenges in Gifted Education	41
	Conclusion	46
	Summary	47
СНАРТ	TER THREE: Action Research Methodology	48
]	Methodological Approach	49
]	Research in Context	50
	Validity and Authenticity	53
]	Design of the Study	54
]	Data Collection	58
]	Ethical Considerations	61
	Summary	63
СНАРТ	TER FOUR: Findings from the Data	64

Research Question	65
Data Collection	65
Instrumentation and Scoring Criteria	66
Reflection	77
Conclusion	
CHAPTER FIVE: Discussion, Implications, and Recommendations	
Research Question	80
Overview/Summary of the Study	80
Major Points of Study	
Action Plan: Implication of the Findings of the Study	
Limitations of Current Study and Suggestions for Future Research	
Conclusion	
References	94
APPENDIX A: Parental Consent Form (adapted from Mertler, 2014)	131
APPENDIX B: Site Approval Letter	
APPENDIX C: Richland School District Two's Approval Letter	133
APPENDIX D: Unit Assessment	
APPENDIX E: Unit Test Rubric	136

CHAPTER ONE: Introduction

Identifying and finding the most effective ways to educate gifted learners has intrigued almost every society in recorded history. Today, civilizations and academic institutions across the globe continue to search for their gifted. Yet, educators and other stakeholders have struggled to come to a consensus on a definition for the term *gifted* as well as the most appropriate measures to identify it. Some individuals were considered gifted if they possessed unique abilities (Renzulli & Reis, 2017), while others were considered gifted if they were amongst the highest academic achievers (Biddick, 2009). Despite the ambiguity of a single definition, scholars declared that giftedness was one of the most precious resources any civilization could possess (Sternberg and Davidson, 2005); which is why America must aim to produce and develop its brightest students (Colangelo & Davis, 2003).

Colangelo and Davis (2003) contended that nurturing the skills of the gifted and talented (GT) was one of the most exciting, yet challenging issues in a diverse society. Over the last century, gifted education has endured an uneven history in America (Renzulli, 2011). For many years, decision-makers in the United States appeared hesitant to address the needs of gifted and talented students (Stephens, 2011). While some mandatory education laws were enacted in the mid-1800s, gifted practices in the United States appeared hesitant for another century (VanTassel-Baska, 2018). It was not until the Soviet Union launched Sputnik in 1957 that Americans began to embrace the idea of recognizing and challenging its most capable learners (VanTassel-Baska, 2018).

Today, gifted education has reached one of the biggest turning points since the mid-1970s, as the field has grown at the local, state, and federal levels (Flinders & Thornton, 2013). Unfortunately, society's outlook and opinion on gifted education continues to swing on a proverbial pendulum between the goals of equality versus excellence (Colangelo & Davis, 2003). In one respect, society appreciates the aptitude and resolve of people who achieve greatness despite dire circumstances. In another respect, our nation has deep roots in egalitarianism, echoed in that powerful expression from the Declaration of Independence in which it proclaims, "all men are created equal" (Gentry & MacDougall, 2008).

When excellence was at the core of the discussion (e.g. when the Russians beat the United States into space), it shook the American educational system, and programs for the gifted quickly increased (Colangelo & Davis, 2003; Gallagher, 2003). When equality was the focal point in schools, as in the 1960s and 1970s, gifted programs were eliminated, and students of all ability levels were placed in heterogeneous classrooms, because many believed that diversity would be stimulating to the social and academic growth of all students (Lambert, 2013).

Conclusively, it can be debated that the United States has been slow to address the needs of gifted and talented students (Stephens, 2011). The dichotomy between equity and excellence in education was and continues to be a deeply rooted issue in American society, and most acknowledge the inherent value in both doctrines. Despite an increased focus on GT students in recent years, their needs remain largely overlooked

within the mainstream classroom. Colangelo and Davis (2003) argued that the American educational system has routinely alienated gifted learners and their advocates by ignoring their special needs. Gifted learners comprise a large portion of an underserved population in today's academic arena (Colangelo & Wood, 2015). The literature has shown that the impact of ineffective curriculum, unaccommodating teachers, and socio-emotional difficulties can extinguish the level of achievement of gifted learners (Colangelo & Davis, 2003). As a teacher and researcher, I recognized that as education moves towards an inclusion model, meeting the needs of gifted students has become more challenging (Bradshaw, 2015). I desired to further investigate the research of experts in the gifted field in order to provide a meaningful experience for my students.

Statement of Problem

Action research requires that the teacher-researcher identifies a weakness in their teaching methods and materials that has an adverse influence on the learning of their students (Mertler, 2014). In this case, the population of GT students in a pull-out gifted class that I taught struggled to engage in higher order thinking skills. The students struggled to engage in higher order thinking because the materials used were mundane and did not promote higher-order thinking (Renzulli & Reis, 1997). Gentry (2008) noted that the relationship between using appropriately stimulating materials and an engaging teacher were the components needed to move learners beyond concrete thinking and to cultivate higher-order thinking skills. This was especially true in mathematics (Thompson, 2011).

Kloosterman (2010) argued that the ability to think at higher levels was deemed a critical instructional goal of education and a driving force behind efforts to transform mathematics education. In 1982, the results from a national assessment revealed that the cognitive capacities of high school students in the United States were deficient (VanTassel-Baska, 1992). Darling-Hammond (1990) noted that only fourteen percent of students understood straightforward inference and deductive analysis thereby forcing educators to acknowledge the need to enhance higher-order thinking skills and aid students to practice additional sophisticated thinking methods. The poor performances of US students on national and international assessments echoed research results which revealed that most US teachers found it challenging to teach and assess for higher-order thinking (Ravitch, 2010).

Since the middle of the twentieth century, America has shifted to a credentialing culture that gauged process by entrance exams, achievement tests, and measures of aptitude in basic skills (Eisner, 2004; Pierce, 2016; Renzulli, Smith, & Reis, 1982). Thompson (2011) argued that tests are ubiquitous and are administered in schools, colleges, and many other contexts. They are not only an essential tool for the assessment of abilities and efforts, but tests can also have beneficial therapeutic and developmental effects, such as enhancing memory (Karpicke, Butler, & Roediger, 2009).

However, there are downsides to testing as well. The concept that educators should "teach what is tested" became popular during the test accountability era and has minimized the opportunity for creativity, higher-order thinking, erudition, and problemsolving by marginalizing educators and students to meet target scores (Eisner, 2004). Furthermore, American educators found teaching higher-order thinking in the midst of

testing mandates was cumbersome (Kloosterman, 2010). Winebrenner (2000) argued that due to their ability to score high on state proficiency assessments, various stakeholders have mistakenly assumed that these students are learning, but very little new knowledge is gained beyond what they are showing on tests developed to assess the average student.

Additionally, schools in fear of facing penalties as a result of low standardized test scores often focus on low-performing students and neglect the learning needs of their brightest students (Kaplan, 2004). To their detriment, many GT students enter the first day of school with the ability to master a majority of the content for the year and receive "busy work" to keep them occupied (Stamps, 2004; Winebrenner, 2000). Often, GT students spend most of their school day drilling and practicing the content and skills they have already mastered rather than learning new, challenging content (Stamps, 2004). These students sit in classrooms bored and disengaged, thereby increasing the gifted underachievement rate (Reis et al., 1998; Renzulli, 2011).

Early in the twentieth century, Dewey (1938) emphasized his concept that education must be experienced-based. As educators and institutions look for innovative ways to educate this population, they must remember that GT students excel at constructing meaning, not just discovering it. Eisner (1988) and Tomlinson (2008) suggested that the objective should be to create meaningful, higher-order thinking experiences for these students. Brulles and Winebrenner (2012) reasoned that without adequate challenges over time, students could become complacent and lose their fervor for learning new content. Through her research, Dweck (2000) concluded that the brains of gifted and talented students became accustomed to the lack of challenges presented in

their classroom. Furthermore, when not appropriately challenged, many students resorted to maladaptive behaviors that impeded their academic performance (Tsui & Mazzocco, 2007). Based on the literature, an intervention to challenge, yet scaffold the learners to the next level of mastery was necessary.

As the researcher of this study, I taught math to GT third-grade students in a pullout program in a public school. I observed that the students mastered the subject matter quickly but struggled to engage in higher-order thinking skills to solve complex math problems. Based on these observations, I concluded the factors that contributed to the students' disengagement in higher-order thinking were likely due to a) mundane nature of the instructional materials, and b) teaching strategies used in the mainstream classroom did not develop higher-order thinking (Renzulli & Reis, 1997c).

Before my intervention, the prescribed curriculum and materials were intended for middle learners but assigned to my GT class. The curriculum moved ahead rapidly, transitioning from skill to skill as opposed to an emphasis on an in-depth understanding and application of the skills. The prescribed curriculum followed the district's curricular scope and sequence that left little or no time to explore concepts at a deeper level. I believed that GT students' thinking could go beyond that which was prescribed in the current text (Gavin et al., 2007). For my GT students, the lack of time to explore concepts at deeper levels was detrimental to their innovative and creative attitude as well as to their overall academic performance. For many of the math GT students in this study, this was the first time in which they were not experts in the content area. In order to become an expert in this subject matter, the content required higher-order thinking skills.

The intervention was a rarely used strategy called curriculum compacting (Troxclair, 2000). Curriculum compacting requires the educator to remove all previously mastered content. Once the content's rigor level is beyond the students' current ability, the educator meets the students at their academic level and scaffolds them until the next level of mastery is achieved (Troxclair, 2000; Stamps, 2004). The compacted unit of study on place value, *Unraveling the Mystery of the MoLi Stone,* was the winner of the National Association for Gifted Children Distinguished Curriculum Studies Awards (Gavin et al., 2006). It explored place value and multiple numerations system in depth. The three big ideas are patterns, groupings, and symbols that help students develop critical thinking skills (Gavin, et al., 2006; Sutton, 2010).

Study Rationale

The ability to reason at higher levels was deemed a critical instructional goal of education and remained a driving force behind efforts to improve mathematics education in particular (Thompson, 2011). Mathematics is an area of the curriculum that demands the attention of educators, policymakers, and other stakeholders (VanTassel-Baska & Hubbard, 2016). National Council of Teachers of Mathematics (NCTM) (2000) suggested that a nation's success was partially based on the mathematical competencies of the population. The literature indicated that the needs of precocious math students must be strengthened and their talents cultivated through a rigorous curriculum, acceleration, and breadth of conceptual mathematical understandings. NCTM (2000) argued that gifted students differ in mathematical ability based on the pace at which they learn, the depth of understanding and that an early onset of mathematical interest and understanding must be nurtured. The Third International Mathematics and Science study

asserted that most United States mathematics curricula were "a mile wide, an inch deep" because they covered too many themes that were disjointed and failed to challenge students intellectually (Gonzalez et al., 2004).

Additionally, Thompson (2011) noted that affectively, many gifted learners are highly impatient. Thompson argued that their academic quickness and awareness could be altered into boredom and frustration when they are restricted in a regular classroom situation, or when they are subjected to a start-and-stop method of instruction and being forced to wait until the rest of the class catches up. When there is a disconnection between appropriate pacing, materials, and strategies, their frustration is heightened (Reis & Renzulli, 2017). Renzulli (2011) argued that gifted learners have a passion for constructing knowledge for themselves, and an ability to create novice ideas and to artistically synthesize existing concepts. Due to the curricular misalignment and lack of academic opportunities for GT students, schools become places where exceptional students grew to dislike and where they exerted minimal effort (Brulles & Winebrenner, 2012; Kennedy, 1995). Curriculum planners for the gifted need to be mindful of the optimal match between learner's capacity and level of experiences provided (VanTassel-Baska, 2003).

The problem of practice began when I identified that when place value and numeration were taught in with an inept curriculum, many students became bored and disruptive due to the lack of rigor. During assessments in their general education classes, the study's participants mastered activities requiring recall that resulted from the recency effect of instruction; however, they struggled to apply this knowledge to other concepts (Berry, Waterman, Baddeley, Hitch, & Allen, 2018). What was missing was an in-depth

understanding of place value and numeration. With a more in-depth understanding, the skills became more ingrained in their neural schemata and remained there for long-term memory recall at later times (Marzano, 1993). In sum, this study focused on an innovative approach to teaching called curriculum compacting to improve students' academic performance. Curriculum compacting takes a topic from simple memorization to a level of higher-order thinking. It is believed that when students reach a high degree of understanding, they will be better able to apply that concept to other areas by becoming more capable of analyzing, evaluating, drawing generalizations, and transferring knowledge from one discipline to another.

Purpose of the Study

The egalitarian philosophy that has dominated the educational policy arena led to the creation of the No Child Left Behind legislation in the early 1990s (Hodgkinson, 2007). Hodgkinson (2007) emphasized that this legislation contributed to a system that generated low-level schooling and one-size-fits-all implementation standards in many schools. Hodgkinson posited that while acceleration, enrichment, and counseling were the primary interventions used with gifted learners for the past century, it remained unclear which practices and conditions were most beneficial for gifted learners. Beyond these methods, curricula for gifted learners remained inadequate regarding rigor, depth, and pace, especially regarding mathematics (Hodgkinson, 2007). I agreed and began to formulate a study to focus on higher-order thinking skills to solve complex math problems.

The purpose of this study was to measure the difference between the pre- and posttest scores of third-grade gifted students when instructed using the curriculum

compacting strategy to teach place value and numeration. The intervention took place in a GT pull-out math class, once a week, for nine weeks. The curriculum used in the study came with a pre- and posttest which measured the levels of higher-order thinking and problem solving as they related to place value. The specific purpose of this study was to measure the effects of using curriculum compacting on the participants' ability to utilize higher-order thinking to solve complex math problems.

As a gifted specialist in the district, the role required me to act as a consultant on both the district and building level. In this capacity, when asked to recommend alternate materials and practices, it was imperative that the recommended materials or strategies were viable and practical and had statistical results that were applicable to the district's student population. Along with other educators, my concerns about the type of instruction provided to the gifted population were voiced. The program coordinator provided curricular resources, Project M³'s unit of study on place value, *Unraveling the Mystery of the MoLi Stone*. This unit was the winner of the National Association for Gifted Children Distinguished Curriculum Studies Awards (Gavin et al., 2006). This curriculum added to the depth of learning gifted students received. With this unit, I sought to demonstrate that curriculum compacting methodology was a viable solution to assists GT students in enhancing their higher-order thinking skills. The findings of this teaching method and the study were shared with others within the district.

This quantitative study was to measure student knowledge on place value before and after the implementation of the unit lessons. The instructional period lasted nine weeks and included the application of curriculum compacting in the third-grade unit of study on place value and numeration systems. A one-group pretest and posttest method

was applied. A research-based pre- and posttest were utilized to measure the individual growth in higher-order thinking that may have resulted from the intervention.

Research Question

One overarching research question evolved: What are the effects of curriculum compacting on students' ability to use higher-order thinking to solve complex math problems?

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical frameworks that guided this study were Bloom's (1956) taxonomy Vygotsky's (1978) sociocultural theory of learning, and Tomlinson's (2000) differentiated instruction. In combination, these theories supported the notion that the development of higher-order thinking was a progressive step that was vital for gifted learners (Bloom, 1956, Herr & Anderson, 2005, Resnick, 1987).

Bloom's (1956) taxonomy of critical thinking begins with *remembering knowledge and understanding* information; the two basic levels of thinking are assumed to be attainable by most individuals. However, for students with the gifted and talented designation, there can be expectations that they can perform at a higher level than their contemporaries (Barrouillet, 2015; Piaget, 1952). This study focused on a gifted and talented third-grade, pull-out math course, and, therefore, higher levels of thinking were the goal of instruction. Through previous assessments and classroom observations, it was determined that these students were capable of moving beyond the concrete knowledge level of thinking on numeration systems and place value. It was believed that GT students could surpass the first two levels of thinking and engaging in higher-thinking skills of analysis, evaluation, and synthesis (Bloom, 1956).

Educators and researchers alike, believe the social constructivist learning theory plays a significant part in instructional enhancement and revitalization of classrooms (Subban, 2006). This theory is grounded on the premise that the learner must be educated in a specific social and cultural context which is required for the development of higher-order functions, and such functions can only be attained and refined after social interaction (Subban & Round, 2015). Subban and Round (2015) further espoused that Vygotsky's (1978) zone of proximal development was a key point of emphasis in his theory. The zone of proximal development connects that which is known to that which is unknown (Vygotsky, 1978).

Tomlinson (2000), a leading expert in differentiation, defined differentiated instruction as a philosophy of teaching that is constructed on the principle that students learn best when their teachers adapt to the differences in their abilities, interests, and learning profiles. Tomlinson (2015) maintained that differentiation is not just an instructional approach, nor is it a formula for schooling; rather it is a novel way of thinking about teaching and learning. Differentiated sees the learning experience as a shared, social experience which reflects Vygotsky's socio-cultural theory (Tomlinson, 2005).

Application of Theory

Dewey (1938) argued that thinking does not occur randomly, but must be evoked by problems, unresolved questions, or uncertainties. Students must understand that many real-life issues are often complicated and multifaceted. Teaching higher-ordering thinking in the subject matter curriculum of math provided the students with applicable life skills that could help them deal with difficult situations they may encounter in life

(Henriksen, Good, & Mishra, 2015; McDavitt, 1993). Mirzaee and Maftoon (2016) emphasized that higher-order thinking should be non-algorithmic and intricate, produce several solutions, and employ the application of self-regulation when facing uncertainty. This emphasis on higher order thinking led to the implementation of an intervention that encouraged students to use higher-order thinking.

The teaching strategy and intervention, called curriculum compacting, was designed to move students into higher levels thinking. Piaget (1952) recognized that the average learner at eight or nine-years of age is at the concrete level of thinking. However, most gifted students' intelligence quotient (IQ) is typically above average. With a higher IQ, combined with advanced levels of achievement, it was feasible that the GT thirdgraders would advance to higher-order thinking. Students should aim to advance to a deeper level of thinking by *analyzing, evaluating, and synthesizing* information to the depth where they would be able to *create* new meaning (Anderson, Krathwohl, & Bloom, 2001).

The pedagogical proposal of this concept was that the educator presented content and materials responsive to the learner's current developmental level. Vygotsky's (1978) zone of proximal development emphasized that a learner-expert collaboration, which exposes the learner to an expert's theoretical advancement, thrusting them beyond their existing developmental level until they are autonomous in their learning of the subject (Armstrong, 2015). Vygotsky (1978) emphasized the purpose of shared interaction with an expert may include steering, modeling, and conversations between the students and the expert (Hodson & Hodson, 1998). To move students beyond the lower levels of Bloom's taxonomy, educators should use Vygotsky's zone of proximal development (ZPD) by

providing content slightly too difficult for students to do on their own, but simple enough for them to do with assistance. Our teaching will be more effective if we teach in this ZPD. It allows us to understand and enable learning (Vygotsky, 1978; Chaiklin, 2003).

A fundamental belief of the differentiated model is that teachers must engage students (Tomlinson, 2000a). Research suggested that curricula should be planned to engage students, it should have the capacity to link their lives and positively affect their levels of motivation (Tomlinson, 2015). By knowing their students, educators can determine their strengths, thus helping them make progress (MacGillivray and Rueda, 2001). Actively engaging students in the learning process and the content provides an opportunity to see patterns developing, to see the connection between disciplines, and to see learning as a collective whole (Coleman, 2001). Tirri and Kuusisto (2013) emphasized that a goal of differentiation is to adjust the pace of learning. Sometimes gifted students need to move quickly through familiar or minimally challenging content (Tomlinson, 2005). This form of acceleration is called curriculum compacting (Colangelo & Assouline, 2009).

Nature of the Study

The nature and scope of the study are bound by the delimitations of one intact classroom in which I was the teacher. To respond to the research question, what are the effects of curriculum compacting on students' ability to use higher-order thinking to solve complex math problems? A quantitative study approach was employed.

Action Research

Action research, like other forms of research, was frequently utilized to advance the use of theories that guided the best practices in education (Johnson, 2008). Typically,

action research occurred in the natural setting where the phenomena were researched and analyzed (Brighton & Moon, 2007). Action research provided an opportunity for the investigator to experiment with innovative ideas (Eden & Ackermann, 2018) that incorporated a focus on how diverse populations function in a heterogeneous setting (Brighton & Moon, 2007; Kirova, Massing, Prochner, & Cleghorn, 2016; Tomlinson, 1995). Good pedagogy has always involved a systematic examination of the instruction process and its effects on student learning (Mertler, 2014). Rigor in action research is typically based on procedures of checking to ensure that the results are not biased or that they truly reflect an individual's perspective (Stringer, 2007). Research is also comprehensive and must include not only a change in teaching strategy but must also assess how students are adjusting to the new strategy.

It is practical for teachers and schools to analyze realistic and relevant issues and quickly respond with action (Brighton & Moon, 2007). A key component of action research is for the researcher to become a part of the study and is often referred to as the teacher-researcher (Mertler, 2014). Effective educators must attempt to reduce the gap between academic theory and the actual practice of pedagogy (Brighton & Moon, 2007; Mertler, 2014). Parsons & Brown (2002) equated the gap with the following analogy: Research happens in the ivory towers, while practice develops in the trenches. In short, experiments in labs do not adequately reflect or represent the curriculum, instruction, and student learning in each classroom throughout American classrooms (Johnson, 2008). It is vital to remember that researchers in action research can make mistakes and should readjust their focus occasionally (Melrose, 2001; Mertler, 2014). It was essential that upon completion of the intervention, I reflected on the process and the results (Mertler,

2014). Due to the constant evolution of an action research study, it is tough to make a generalizable conclusion. Therefore, the results were primarily for improving the learning that takes place in a particular setting (Mertler, 2014).

Action research is by nature cyclical. The cyclical nature of the research is essential because each cycle teaches the researcher more and credibility is gained (Melrose, 2001). This study followed the cyclical action research model as described by Mertler (2014) for planning, acting, developing, and reflecting. The first phase, planning, is comprised of (a) identifying and limiting the topic, (b) gathering information, (c) reviewing related literature, and (d) developing a research plan (Mertler, 2014). Acting, the second phase, is comprised of implementing the plan and collecting data (Mertler, 2014). Developing an action is the third phase (Mertler, 2014). The fourth phase is reflecting, which is comprised of sharing the results and reflecting on the process (Mertler, 2014). Inspired by the work of Parsons and Brown (2002), employing action research was imperative to actively participate in the classroom, not merely to observe the learning process, but to take action to develop an intervention.

Assumptions

I assumed that third-grade gifted students could engage in higher-order thinking skills. It was also assumed that the use of curriculum compacting was an appropriate method for enhancing GT higher-order thinking skills. It was anticipated that the GT students would develop concerns when challenged beyond their comfort levels. As their teacher, I would support their academic attainment. This theory will be further defined in Chapter Two. An assumption was made that the parents of the GT students in the class would support the implementation of the intervention.

Limitations or Potential Weaknesses of the Study

A limitation of this study was the small sample size. The study began with fifteen participants, but only twelve students remained through the intervention. Several students of military families moved out of the district before the conclusion of the study. This disruption interfered with sample size and test results. Also, I had a limited time frame in the field, and the study's timeframe had to coincide with the approvals required to initiate this study. Furthermore, if a parent or student decided that they do not want to participate in the study, an alternate subject area plan was used for that student, and the student was provided a different curriculum while the intervention took place.

Delimitations

The study was delimited due to the intact classroom where the I taught. No other classroom or teaching space was used in this study. I understood that if the study yielded findings substantiating the value of using curriculum compacting to enhance higher-order thinking, other teachers might decide to implement the strategies tested in this action research.

Significance of the Study

The study findings were significant in understanding the academic development of GT students. The students demonstrated their capability of learning at a higher level when instructed by a GT trained teacher at their level of instruction using curriculum compacting. The primary significance was embedded in how GT learners adapted to a new curriculum or new teaching strategies.

From my perspective, the study findings show how new knowledge can be generated using an action research approach. It is imperative to pilot and try out new

techniques before endorsing them to peers. The findings were significant to share with colleagues because I am responsible for informing other educators about new practices that have been met with success.

Knowledge Generation

Characteristics and needs perceived as significant for the identification of the gifted are also vital for curriculum design. In the cognitive domain, the ability to manipulate abstract mathematical functions far greater than their same-age peers rejects lockstep, incremental parts-of-a-whole instructional process, which is often applied in general classrooms (VanTassel-Baska, 1992). The pace and rate of gifted students' ability to ascertain material and the manner in which they can consume and process vast quantities of information detail the need for advanced work (VanTassel-Baska, 2003). For many gifted learners, they learn at an accelerated pace, and their abilities are often operationally two to six years ahead of their same-age peers. VanTassel-Baska (2018) contended that the intellectual prowess of gifted learners enables them to grasp ideas and systems of thought holistically rather than fragmentary, decreasing the time required to teach them any given topic.

Often gifted math students were placed in settings that lacked differentiated instruction at an accelerated pace, and that matched their ability levels (Gavin et al., 2007). The literature suggested that high-ability students in mathematics required a setting and curriculum that provided opportunities for complex mathematical analysis (Gavin et al., 2007). Mirzaee and Maftoon (2016) suggested that many educators resorted to moving students to the next grade level, but this did not ensure that the students would be given a curriculum that evoked higher-order thinking that can aid in their intellectual

development (Gavin et al., 2006). The knowledge gained from this study may apply to other gifted classrooms both within the school system used for this study and beyond. Additionally, the data was used in three ways: 1) to revise and improve my instructional competencies, 2) to motivate colleagues to use new practices, and 3) and to share with others at gifted conferences and academic journals.

Professional Application

Despite a consensus that there is a significant need to differentiate instruction to match gifted students' abilities, many mainstream teachers lack a strong foundation to push the students beyond their current knowledge to scaffold their learning to a higher level (Gavin et al., 2007; Vygosky, 1978). Educators must understand that students need opportunities to have mathematical conversations and higher-order thinking activities that match their ability levels. It is vital for a teacher to interact and engage students in activities promoting higher-order thinking.

As a practitioner, this study helped me expand the knowledge and understanding of the general education teachers on best ways to teach gifted students in classrooms. The findings of this study led to the implementation of professional development workshops in the district and perhaps at other venues/conferences offering teacher enhancement work sessions. Through instruction, these opportunities could heighten one's level of understanding and professional development. An additional goal was to publish the findings in journals suitable for teachers of the gifted. Possible journals where this study's findings can be published are the *Sage Journal, Journal for the Education of the Gifted, Parenting for Gifted Children, Teaching for High Potential, Gifted Child Quarterly*, and *Diverse Teaching Strategies for Diverse Learners (ASCD).*

Social Change

As society becomes more diverse, it is vital for all administrators and teachers to recognize as well as support the needs that exist for all groups of students regardless of their ethnic background, disability, socioeconomic status, linguistic, or intellectual abilities (Grensing-Pophal, 2017). Oppressed by society's deeply rooted biases and notions of intelligence and giftedness, too many marginalized groups, fail to reach their potential in American schools (Ford & King, 2014). Gifted students in these subgroups were nearly three times less likely to be recognized for their achievements than that of their white counterparts (Grensing-Pophal, 2017). Due to these differences, a number of gifted students were marginalized and struggled to identify and define themselves in the context of our present society (Herr, Castro, & Canty, 2012).

The rigor of education and access to an equitable education, including gifted programs, are linked to racial stratification and exclusion (Ford & King, 2014). Historically, racially and socioeconomically segregated programs have operated to accommodate and placate whites to prevent "white flight" from school districts across the country (Kohn, 1998). Ford and King (2014) argued that for several decades, educators, policy makers, curriculum writers, and legal representatives have ignored and failed to attract minority students of all sub-groups. However, when identified as gifted, minority students still lag behind their white contemporaries (Ford & King, 2014).

The findings of a United States Department of Education study revealed that minority students were severely underrepresented in programs designed to serve gifted and talented students (Herr, Castro, & Canty, 2012). Standardized tools typically used to assess student ability and qualify students for program entry are culturally biased toward

the white middle-class student. Biased testing measures have led to an uneven balance of white students being served in gifted programs. This testing bias phenomenon has resulted in the exclusion of non-white students from racial, ethnic, or family orientation who may have different experiences than those portrayed in the assessments (Grensing-Pophal, 2017).

In the mid to late 20th century, researchers such as Samuda (1975) started a movement to denounce the culturally biased tests used to identify gifted students. Notwithstanding the testing bias reason(s) for underrepresentation, unfair access to gifted education still exists (Ford & King, 2014). Beleaguered groups such as African Americans and Hispanics tend to score lower than their white counterparts on standardized measurement (Herr, Castro, & Canty, 2012). Research reviews suggested that traditional assessment methods, including standardized IQ tests, teacher recommendations, and parent questionnaires, are inadequate in identifying gifted minorities (Atnafu, 2012).

Also, minority gifted and talented students are restricted by misconceptions as well as a lack of support (Grensing-Pophal, 2017). Hispanic and black students make up forty percent of the educational population, but only nine percent of those in gifted and talented programs (Grensing-Pophal, 2017). Dreadfully, the numbers for Native Americans and Pacific Island student enrollment in gifted programs were lower (Grensing-Pophal, 2017). Inclusion in gifted programs gives these students a boost in the social and economic hierarchy, a system reserved for social privilege, class privilege, and white privilege (Ford & King, 2014). Mueller and Haines (2012) identified several additional issues that are significant to gifted minority students such as:

- Low cultural expectations for achievement, revealed by little reassurance or support.
- Peer rejection, particularly for young black males.
- Conflict produced by cultivating one's potential and succeeding in the "majority" culture and exiting one's cultural group to do so.

Furthermore, expectations in the families of low SES students can be impractical, hindering the flow of appropriate communications between home and school (Atnafu, 2012). Herr, Castro, and Canty (2012) contended that whether the discussion is about minority students or poor white students form rural areas; one issue remains common to each group: they exist outside the mainstream systems that offer access to educational advantage. This knowledge is crucial to converting high aspirations into creative, productive achievement at various stages of development (Atnafu, 2012). Educators must be proactive, intentional, and meticulous about removing intended and inadvertent barricades to desegregating and integrating gifted education for minority students (Ford & King, 2014).

The unit used during this intervention was supported by the Jacob Javits Gifted and Talented Students Education Act (Javits) (Gallagher, 2015); which places a number of resources on identifying and serving students who are customarily underrepresented in gifted programs. The program aims to help reduce the achievement gap and promote equity in educational opportunities for all students (Gallagher, 2015).

The unit incorporated multiple assessment opportunities for all students, instead of the typical language-based assessment (Gavin et al., 2007). The curriculum allowed my students to display their level of mastery in multiple ways. They were able to use

manipulatives, compute equations, respond verbally, and through writing. By providing verbal and nonverbal measures, it increased the success of minority students (Naglieri & Ford, 2015). Naglieri and Ford (2015) argued that the equitable and culturally responsive reasons of nonverbal measures of general ability, is to measure general ability without the muddling the influence of knowledge, access, linguistic ability, opportunity, socio-economic, and other inequalities confronting minority students (Ford, 2010).

This is an issue that I am sensitive to and carefully selected this curriculum to compact because of its emphasis on resources for diversity appreciation (Gavin et al., 2007). I aimed to improve the development of ability, achievement, social, and economic progress of any marginalized gifted student in my classroom. It was vital that I had an accurate picture of how marginalized students struggle for recognition of their talents. I believe that using culturally sensitive learning experiences and resources could have a positive impact (Grensing-Pophal, 2017).

Definition of Terms

Included in this section are definitions of the terminology that, although they may be commonly known by those in the field of teaching GT students, are important to define. The meanings as to how they are used in the context of this action research on gifted students are presented in this section.

Critical thinking. A form of contemplation involving identifying critical parts of statements and relative relationships, deducing information correctly, discerning the appropriate conclusions, and evaluating the results (Pascarella & Terenzini, 1991).

Curriculum compacting. An instructional technique used to adjust curricula as needed in any area and for any grade level. Curriculum compacting is accomplished by

outlining the goal of the unit, recognizing and documenting the students who have previously achieved the desired goals, and supplying more challenging alternatives for the material already mastered by those students (Reis & Renzulli, 1995).

Differentiation. The process of altering instruction in a classroom based on the variance of learners in attendance to establish an ideal learning experience for all students (Tomlinson, 2000).

Gifted students. Students who can exhibit a high capability of achievement in various categories including creativity intellectuality and leadership (National Association for Gifted Children, n.d.).

Heterogeneous classroom. A classroom comprised of students at various learning levels (Penny, 2005).

High-stakes tests. When the results of an analysis are employed to make a choice impacting students, instructors, administrators, and communities (Au, 2007).

Higher-order thinking. A thought processing method in which a person will rely on new data and comparative stored memory to devise solutions to a given problem or situation. This lends to decisions such as what to believe, methods of creating new objects, and guessing outcomes (Lewis & Smith, 1993).

Normalized gain (Average of gains). A measure of the effectiveness of teaching methods. The equation is g-average =((Posttest %-Pretest %) (100%-Pretest %)) (Madsen, Sayre, & McKagan, 2017).

Number sense. An understanding of numbers and mathematical constructs and the ability to work flexibly with numbers. Which includes the capacity to make

estimations, determine the rationality of calculation, and utilize numerical benchmarks to direct measurable activity (Sowder & Schappelle, 1989).

Place value. Comprehensive and analytical knowledge of the various parts of multi-digit numerals (McGuire & Kinzie, 2013) and the ability to deconstruct and reconstruct those numbers (Walkowiak, 2016).

Scaffolding. Scaffolding is the support, guidance, advice, prompts, direction or resources a learner is given that enables them to complete a task otherwise out of reach (Davis & Miyake, 2004). The scaffolding enables students to learn to do these tasks independently. As students become more independent in doing a task, the scaffold is removed (Wass & Golding, 2014).

Test anxiety. Test anxiety has been described as a negative emotional or cognitive response to situations in which performance is being measured or assessed (Cassady & Johnson, 2002). It is comprised of two dimensions: a cognitive and an emotional component (McDonald, 2001).

Conclusion and Summary

Reis and Renzulli's (1992) study revealed that educators and students viewed curriculum compacting activities as more challenging than the standard instructional method. This led to an increase in achievement for GT students. Gifted students need to be energized and encouraged to use the higher thinking skills inherent in their advanced IQ levels. Teachers should avoid administering "more of the same" work to students who complete tasks early and quickly. Instead, educators should assign differentiated, more complex work to promote the advancement of GT students who have the potential to be future leaders (Stamps, 2004). Educators can begin to construct comprehensive

curriculum practices for gifted learners, backed by research on the latest development in pedagogy, motivation, and child development (VanTassel-Baska, 2003). This action research study was an attempt to inspire GT students to achieve higher positions in life where they can make the most of their higher-level abilities.

In summary, Chapter One provided a presentation of what is known and what is not known about a teaching strategy for gifted students. The problem for this research was that students' comprehension was limited to a superficial understanding of place value and numeration. When challenged, my students struggled to engage in higherorder thinking. The action background of the problem was presented and supported by the literature. The purpose and rationale of the study were discussed which led to the study's research question: What are the effects of curriculum compacting on students' ability to use higher-order thinking to solve complex math problems? The literature review in Chapter Two supports the study proposition and illuminates what already exists in the literature and what is yet to be known. Theoretical frameworks were established and will be used to create triangulation processes for the methodological section in Chapter Three and lend support to the findings.

CHAPTER TWO: Literature Review

The purpose of this chapter is to provide a historical and theoretical foundation for readers to understand how introducing curriculum compacting to third-grade gifted students influences their ability to utilize higher-order thinking (HOT) skills (Mirzaee & Maftoon, 2016). As a gifted and talented specialist, I identified that the prescribed math curriculum used prior to this study lacked rigor and, therefore, was an area of concern. The materials did not adequately address the depth of understanding or cultivate HOT as depicted by Bloom's Taxonomy for gifted (GT) students. The problem of practice for this study was that students' understanding of numeration systems and mathematical place value was superficial. Students recognized the positionality of multiple digits, but had difficulty engaging in higher-order thinking to solve complex problems.

Bloom (1956) stated that when assessing for higher-order thinking, the math problem must be new, unfamiliar, or in some way atypical from those utilized in instruction. Based on the literature, a different instructional technique was sought to engage and challenge gifted students, namely curriculum compacting. I conducted an exhaustive review of the published literature on the problem of practice and became more knowledgeable of all the materials and strategies needed to conduct the research. For instance, I examined information significant to this study including curricula and strategies that have already been used to enhance higher-order thinking and the methodological approaches to measuring the effectiveness of such programs. Seminal
studies were reviewed and discussed in the literature review and provided baseline information to support this study. The strengths and weaknesses of the studies were noted and used to enhance the effectiveness of the proposed action research intervention.

This research project included an investigation of curriculum compacting for gifted and talented third graders. It was important not to underestimate their abilities, but also to not overestimate them either. Effective research also included opposing views of a topic. Therefore, the research comprised views on gifted students in the regular classroom and assessments providing differentiated instruction (Tomlinson, 2005; Vantassel-Baska, 2003; Winebrenner, 2003).

Context of Gifted Education

Unfortunately, researchers have discovered that high ability students did not receive the support they needed; instead, they were pushed through a rigid curriculum that promoted using the same pace, similar materials, and without differentiation (Gentry, 1999, 2016). To further complicate the matter, many students who were academically ahead of their peers were forced to complete tedious assignments or assist struggling students; which often amplified the students' underachievement (Stamps, 2004). Renzulli (2011) noted that many teachers felt guilty and discouraged for overwhelming gifted students with previously mastered work instead of providing them with new, complex assignments. Nonetheless, Bradshaw (2015) argued that teachers must work hard to meet the needs of all their students on a daily basis. Gentry (1999, 2016) contended that if teachers failed to include methods that included a differentiated

curriculum and strategies, there would be great harm done to the entire GT field and the students they serve.

What is known is that many gifted children were ignored in heterogeneous classrooms because so much attention was given to struggling and below average students who were borderline proficient (Grgich, 2009). For some students, the lack of rigor and engagement can lead to temporary or chronic underachievement (MacCabe et al., 2010). If unresolved, chronic underachievement can lead to a lack of academic attainment (Peterson, 2015). Siegle, McCoach, and Roberts (2017) reported that ten to twenty percent of high school dropouts tested in the gifted range. Thus, creating an unlikely at-risk group. In any of these circumstances, a curriculum intervention was warranted (Rambo-Hernandez & McCoach, 2015).

Undoubtedly, the absence of curricular differentiation and academic rigor for the brightest students in America has been a significant issue within the educational system (Gentry, 2016; Reis & Renzulli, 1992). Based on the research of Renzulli (2011), it was apparent that GT students benefited the most when curricula and strategies were matched to their abilities. However, this task appeared to be insurmountable for some teachers (Gentry & MacDougall, 2008). To reach gifted learners, educators must remember that gifted students differ from their classmates in three aspects: learning pace, the complexity of their comprehension, and the topics they find attractive (Pomortseva 2014). In contrast, dissidents argued that differentiation should be used for all students; however, research has shown that despite the apparent impact of differentiation, it was seldom used (Taylor & Frye; Reis & Renzulli, 1992). Even when used, differentiation within

traditional models of instruction has been largely unsuccessful in meeting the needs of gifted learners (VanTassel-Baska, 2018).

Through an intensive search of alternative pedagogical practices that would be better suited to enhance higher-order thinking, curriculum compacting was chosen for the current action research project (Reis, Westberg, Kulikowich, & Purcell, 1998; Sutton, 2000). The challenge was to initiate a high-interest level that would be sustained throughout the unit of study on numeration systems and place value (Pomortseva, 2014). Research has indicated that modification of the academic environment may meet with success in reversing underachievement in gifted students. VanTassel-Baska and Stambaugh (2007) asserted that without appropriate modification or differentiation, gifted students would "regress" in their performance or underachieve. The literature indicated that gifted underachievers and dropouts were not academically engaged. They were seldom on-task; chose to engage in disruptive behaviors (Baum, Schader, & Hebert, 2014).

Due to curriculum compacting being the approach selected for this intervention, it was necessary to review studies that used the curriculum compacting strategies and materials; and to identify in what contexts the materials were used. Reis and Renzulli (1992) posited that curriculum compacting was useful when teachers desired an alternative approach to differentiated instruction because the teacher could adjust the curriculum to the needs of the students. In a federal study of curriculum compacting, students who received compacting in science and mathematics scored remarkably higher on performance posttests than their classmates in the control group, implying the

advantages of curriculum compacting for increasing achievement assessments (Gentry, 2016; Sutton, 2000).

As a teacher, I understood that as education moves towards an inclusion model, meeting the needs of gifted students has become more challenging (Bradshaw, 2015). I desired to further investigate the research of experts in the gifted field in order to provide a meaningful experience for my students. One of my goal was to avert negative behaviors and underachievement by meeting the needs of my students. Research has shown that inadequate curriculum, unsupportive educators, socio-emotional difficulties can extinguish the potentially high accomplishment of gifted children and adolescents (Colangelo & Davis, 2003). The research of Renzulli, Gallagher, Gentry, and others have provided further insights into how to meet the needs of GT students (Stamps, 2004).

The Underachievement of Gifted Students

Gifted students, by definition, exhibit potential for high scholastic success (Bush, 2001). Despite their potential, GT students presented some of the most significant challenges, and perhaps some of the most notable encounters for teachers. Nonetheless, Bennett-Rappell and Northcote (2016) espoused that GT children were considered national and global resources who possessed the potential to enhance our civilization in comprehensive ways. It would be advantageous for our school systems throughout the country to foster their talents so that they might improve the social fabric and economic well-being within their communities and globally (Rafidi, 2008). To effectively teach and meet the needs of GT students, teachers were prompted to consider the experiences of GT students which included how they were labeled, how they developed their identity, and how they experienced academic guidance (Coleman, Micko, & Cross, 2015).

In a longitudinal study by Hollingworth in the 1940s, he discovered that GT students were not always given the opportunity to maximize their abilities in school which stunted their academic potential and led to underachievement (Bennett-Rappell & Northcote, 2016). Ziegler, Ziegler, and Stoeger (2012) defined underachievement as a "substantial" discrepancy between a high degree of giftedness and a comparatively low degree of achievement. Siegle, McCoach, and Roberts (2016) noted that underachievement is one of the most exasperating and mystifying issues in gifted education. Gifted underachievers, as compared to achievers, manifest certain patterns of behavior: social immaturity, emotional problems, antisocial behavior, and low self-concept.

Coleman, Micko, and Cross (2015) maintained that underachievement appeared to be a major factor in assessing the dropout risk among GT students since it appeared to precede decisions to drop out of high school. Interviews with high-ability students who chose to leave high school without a diploma revealed that most did not put forth their full efforts nor were they adequately challenged (Landis & Reschly, 2013). Moreover, as with other dropouts, the potential these students have to contribute to society is often diminished or lost when they drop out (Rafidi, 2008). Gifted students who drop out experience many of the same adverse life outcomes as other dropouts, including reduced earnings and increased need for government assistance (Landis & Reschly, 2013).

Research in the general dropout literature indicated that there were promising dropout prevention strategies. Given the high aptitude for academics that GT students exhibited early in their academic careers, it stood to reason that intervening with this group had great potential for success. Thus, the importance of bringing gifted students

and their curricular, social, and emotional needs into higher prominence in the dropout literature cannot be overstated (Landis & Reschly, 2013). To broaden the scope of discussion, it was useful to characterize dropping out of school as an extreme manifestation of underachievement, which has attracted more attention in recent years within the gifted education literature (Ritchotte, Rubenstein, & Murry, 2015).

Application of Curriculum Compacting

I was aware that the curriculum compacting strategy would be new to most stakeholders involved in the study. Unfortunately, the literature on curriculum compacting was limited and antiquated; most of the research found was over twentyyears-old. In the 1980s and 1990s, studies revealed that curriculum compacting had been advantageous in gifted classrooms (Renzulli & Reis, 1985; Troxclair, 2000). Despite the limited research, past studies have shown curriculum compacting to be an effective strategy to combat issues that were associated with acceleration, because this method did not impose on the succeeding year's curriculum (Bailey, 1992; Reis, Westberg, Kulikowich, & Purcell, 1998).

Compacting was efficient in adjusting the curriculum for gifted students since it enabled the teacher to attend and monitor the needs of all the students in general education or GT classrooms (Goree, 1996). The teaching method was intended to amend the standard curriculum to meet the needs of gifted learners by removing content that the students mastered and accelerating content that they may master quickly (Chall & Conrad,1991). This required teachers to move quickly through objectives that were easily mastered, avoid repetition of similar skills, and move into a metacognitive approach that challenged students to think more deeply (Renzulli, Smith, & Reis, 1982;

Sutton, 2000). Mostly, with curriculum compacting, more time was given to the challenging concepts of higher-order thinking (Anderson, Krathwohl, & Bloom, 2001). Curriculum compacting is another iteration of differentiated instruction (Tomlinson, 2015).

Theoretical and Conceptual Frameworks

The theoretical and conceptual frameworks that underpin this proposed study were Bloom's (1956) taxonomy, Vygotsky's (1978) Socio-learning theory, and Tomlinson's (2000) differentiated instruction. Bloom's (1956) taxonomy constructed the framework for how thinking could emerge at higher levels. Bloom's taxonomy (1956) consists of six levels of concepts that proceed in academic settings. The graduated levels are: remember, understand, apply, analyze, evaluate, and create (Eber & Parker 2007). Thompson (2011), a math specialist, emphasized that the thinking skills of *knowledge*, *organizing*, and *applying* are considered lower-order thinking (LOT) while *analyzing*, *evaluating*, and *creating* are considered higher-order thinking (HOT) skills. The use of Bloom's taxonomy has been shown to enhance student mastery of skills, concepts, and higher-order thinking (O'Flaherty & Phillips, 2015). It is a tool that can broaden the depth of their students' learning (Eber & Parker, 2007).

Research has found that many academic experiences for GT students are grounded in low levels of thinking such as memorizing concepts; however, if Bloom's taxonomy is adequately used, experiences can be incorporated to help students advance through higher levels of cognitive growth (Moffett, 2015). Jones, Olds, and Lisciandro (2016) stated that when teaching GT students, it is of little value to tell them that they are right or wrong on an assessment; however, it is more beneficial to let them know where

they fall on the continuum to assess where they are and what they need to achieve. For these reasons, Bloom's (1956) taxonomy shaped the framework for how thinking could emerge at higher levels.

Essential to Vygotsky's (1978) perspective is the concept of the zone of proximal development (ZPD), a domain in which learning settings can be enhanced through the identification of aptitudes that the learner could develop with the proper assistance. With suitable stimulus, the student reaches outside their existing level of development to learn something new; the educator must guide the learner to circumvent the plague of boredom (Armstrong, 2015). Armstrong (2015) argued to reduce the gap between the student's present development and where they could be with assistance, learning experiences must be carefully thought out and inspire the student to pursue assignments outside their present competences. In sum, the student observes the expert's actions by interacting with someone more informed, their logical process developing upward toward the experts. Once foundational components are fully absorbed, the learner gradually becomes more autonomous (Hodson & Hodson, 1998).

Tomlinson (2015) explained that differentiation for gifted learners was and remains vital. The aim of differentiated instruction is to cater to a broad spectrum of learners (Tomlinson, 2008). In a differentiated classroom, learners can access the curriculum in multiple ways and at their instructional level (VanTassel-Baska, 2003). Differentiation is a teaching method in which curricula, teaching strategies, resources, and activities are routinely modified by the teacher to maximize the learning potential (Tomlinson, 2015). In this era of inclusive schooling, most GT students found themselves faced with a mainstreamed curriculum that lacked sufficient depth and

complexity (VanTassel-Baska, 2003). GT students require a suitable level of challenge to motivate and engage them, and to prevent boredom and underachievement (Tirri & Laine, 2013).

Higher-order thinking

The capacity to engage in higher levels of thinking in mathematics is necessary for the 21st-century workplace including the development of future mathematicians, engineers, and scientist (Partnership for 21st Century Skills, 2008). Thompson (2011) noted that a number of educators worried that a majority of state exams concentrated on lower-order thinking (e.g., procedural skills, symbol manipulation) skills at the expense of higher-order thinking (e.g., problem-solving; reasoning) skills. Yen and Halili (2015) distinguished lower-order thinking as the recall of data or the application of knowledge to familiar situations and contexts. Warner and Kaur (2017) specified that lower-order thinking tasks expected students to merely recall facts, execute easy operations, or solve common problems; it did not necessitate students work beyond their comfort level. Yen and Halili further explained that lower-order thinking test items did not require justification or proof and limited to only one correct response. In contrast, Colley & Windschitl (2016) defined higher-order thinking as the use of multifaceted, non-algorithmic reasoning to decipher problems in which there is not a predictable, well-rehearsed method explicitly suggested by a task, task instruction, or a worked-out example. Warner and Kaur (2017) further explained that higher-order thinking test items involve problems where no algorithm has been taught, where justification is required, and where multiple answers are possible.

In today's data-driven society, students must become critical thinkers by developing higher-order thinking skills to make sound decisions in and outside of the classroom (Koksal, 2014). Research has shown that critical thinkers tend to be unbiased, question all information, understand complex ideas, efficiently connect their thoughts, and possess a keen perception of metacognition (Paul & Elder, 2008; Kenney, 2013). When confronted with unfamiliar problems, doubts, questions, or anomalies, intelligent individuals trigger their higher-order thinking skills to search for resolutions (Costa & Kallick, 2008; King, Goodson, & Rohani, 2010; Santín & Torruella, 2017).

Sadly, many educators struggle to embrace the idea of teaching beyond the average learner (Kenney, 2013). To prevent gifted students from falling short of their potential, educators must understand the needs of GT students and implement curricula and activities that match and maximize their aptitudes (Dixon et al., 2004; McCollister & Sayler, 2010). Research has shown that developing higher-order thinking improves academic performance through questioning, problem-solving, evaluating, and executing (McCollister & Sayler, 2010). Dixon (1996) emphasized that students and teachers were most successful when effective curricular differentiation was blended with higher-order thinking activities.

The work of McCollister and Sayler (2010) supported my proposed action plan because the findings corresponded to what I presupposed. The premise was that curriculum compacting extended higher-order thinking beyond the immediate lesson. Higher-order thinking skills, once developed, could evolve, mature, and transcend into other subject areas. Johnson (2001) and White (2010) emphasized it was essential for

educators to know that higher-order thinking was not an innate talent, and it needed to be taught overtly on a daily basis. The integration of higher-order thinking skills was imperative for all learners, not just the gifted (McCollister & Sayler, 2010). Educators who are attuned to their students' needs should discover that students are highly likely to learn how to be consumers of knowledge and critically think as they begin to integrate higher-order thinking into their daily instructions and activities (Kenney, 2013; Koksal, 2014). I desired to be a teacher who cared enough about students and, therefore, sought to find ways to meet their unique needs and provide them with the higher-order thinking abilities required to fulfill their potential.

Impact of Education Environment

The Kenney (2013) study was particularly important to me because it supported my original thinking that when high-ability students were left in an unstimulated classroom, they lost focus, worked quickly and thoughtlessly, and eventually developed disruptive behaviors. When I received several students who turned to these nonproductive behaviors, I discovered that the problems were difficult to correct. Searching for ways to re-motivate and help them to reconnect with a desire to learn, I decided to find the means to accomplish that task. The proposed study was the result.

Altintas and Ozdemir (2015) conducted a quantitative study to analyze the effect of developed differentiation approach on the achievement of students. This study's method employed convenience sampling and consisted of 68 gifted and 60 nongifted students. It was conducted with the help of teachers and administrators at the testing site. A pre- and posttest assessment design was used in both the treatment and the control group following the research methodology. Altintas and Ozdemir concluded

that there was a significant difference in scores between the control and experimental group after the application of an enriched curriculum. These findings show that curricula and activities that were centered on elaboration, higher-order thinking, and multiple intelligences could increase students' academic achievements.

In 2005, Tieso conducted a study that applied a pretest-posttest, a quasiexperimental design employing a stratified random sample of 31 different classrooms. The participants consisted of 31 fourth and fifth-grade teachers and their students from four New England school districts who received professional development assistance from scholars at the University of Connecticut's National Research Center on the Gifted and Talented. Despite major constraints of the study, the results indicated that adapting instructional strategies for gifted education, including differentiated curriculum, coupled with flexible grouping, could have a substantial positive impact on students' mathematics achievement. The results of this study may be vital to researchers and educators in the gifted field as the current emphasis is on preparing students for standardized testing, and the impact of No Child Left Behind legislation on the social and academic needs of gifted and talented students (United States Department of Education, 1993). Since it was unlikely that one strategy operating in isolation was as effective as multiple interventions, I investigated the combined outcomes of grouping systems and curricular modifications on elementary students' mathematics achievement.

Other researchers conducting quasi-experimental studies outside of the class suggested that consistent gains could occur in students' academic achievement when

teachers implement practices used in gifted education, such as ability grouping arrangements (Tieso, 2005). Tieso (2005) recognized that scholars in the field of gifted education have long advocated for heightened and differentiated curriculum for highability students (Kaplan, 2004; Renzulli & Reis, 1994). However, Tieso argued that little action research existed within the field, but several researchers (Gentry, 1999; Renzulli & Reis, 1994; Tomlinson, 2008) have compared the effects of curriculum revision or differentiation on student achievement. Tieso's remarks were encouraging with regard to the need for additional action research.

Similar to the current proposed study was the empirical study conducted by Reis, Westberg, Kulikowich, and Purcell (1998). This study was grounded in direct observations and experiences of manipulating a phenomenon. Reis et al., (1998) intended for this study to provide support for elementary teachers who needed empirical evidence for eliminating content their which students had mastered. The researchers examined the effects of curriculum compacting on achievement test scores of national samples of 336 high-ability students. In the study, the approach utilized for measurement was a pre- and posttest to examine student achievement. This research proposed that teachers can pre-assess students' schema related to the content, eliminate segments of the curriculum that students already mastered, and substitute those sections with multiple types of interdisciplinary instructional and learning activities. The researchers concluded that teachers should be assured students' achievement test scores would not decline.

Unlike the previously mentioned studies that utilized several sampling methods to produce large samples, this study consisted of the students in my classroom. Most of the

studies analyzed were on the effects of curriculum compacting on test scores. This study was an investigation of the impact of curriculum compacting on higher-order thinking skills. The test scores were treated as a by-product of learning.

Challenges in Gifted Education

Gallagher (2003) argued that educating gifted and talented students in the United States is a "trendy problem." He further emphasized that one of the most troublesome challenges for educators was the constant realization that our best students were not adequately competing with other countries in disciplines such as mathematics and science. VanTassel-Baska and Hubbard (2016) expressed displeasure with the decline in the interests of teaching the gifted students at their level of instruction and began pushing to recreate an emphasis on gifted education (VanTassel-Baska 1992; Flinders & Thornton, 2013). For the current study, I sought to discover ways to overcome this rationale during my initial work on this proposed action research plan.

Sisson and Sisson (2015) argued that the absence of curricular adjustments could be the best explanation for the underachievement of gifted students. Without meaningful challenges, the system robbed gifted students of a challenge and failed to prepare them for future complex situations (Hiebert, 2011; Toth, 1999). Teachers and students shared in the frustration from the lack of curriculum adjustments for those who have mastered most of the content or could quickly become proficient in less time than other students (Reis & Renzulli, 1992). Gentry (2016) suggested that high-ability students who have mastered the curriculum's content at an augmented pace should be fast-tracked and receive enrichment opportunities. Winebrenner (2014) postulated that gifted students need to be challenged on a daily basis and it is unfair for them to be in a heterogeneous

classrooms without differentiation. Unfortunately, many educators believed curricular adjustments or compacting were the exceptions instead of the rule for educating gifted students (Sisson & Sisson, 2015).

Sternberg (1995) argued that gifted students in the United States faced many barriers and received limited opportunities to cultivate and optimize their talents. Dixon et al. (2004) acknowledged that gifted students were deprived of essential activities that met their unique needs and caused these students to lose confidence in their talents and abilities. Furthermore, students who mastered content quickly become bored, distracted, underperformed, and were at-risk to develop behavior issues (Fisher & Frey, 2014). Dixon et al. (2004) noted that many GT students believed that school was a waste of their time and became lethargic and uninterested which created barriers to them reaching their full potential. McKeachie, Pintrich, Lin, and Smith (1986) recommended that gifted students should have opportunities to vacillate over multiple possibilities, engage in constant dialogues about metacognitive strategies, and participate in activities focusing on problem-solving.

Coleman and Cross (2001) espoused that one of the key problems with gifted education was that the field lacks examples of differentiated curricula backed by research. Coleman and Cross (2001) argued that educators should engage GT students through effective differentiation, but pressure from the administration and other stakeholders to meet testing standards reduced the scope and depth of instruction. Research has shown that providing identical academic experiences for all students coupled with a misaligned curriculum will systematically halt the potential and progress

of GT students (Reis et al., 1998). Tomlinson (2005) argued that the primary goal in creating an effective curriculum and instruction for gifted learners is to ensure that it is meaning-making and rich. Effective curriculum and instruction for gifted learners should respond to their readiness levels, interest, and modes of learning (Tomlinson, 2008). This goal was guided by the premise that schools should maximize student potential, not merely bring students to an externally established norm on a test (Tomlinson, 2008).

Effects of testing on gifted education. The issuance of A *Nation at Risk* (National Commission on Excellence in Education, 1983) was widely viewed as the spark for the high stakes testing and standards movement that paved the way for legislations such as No Child Left Behind (Lefkowits and Miller, 2006). A Nation at Risk (National Commission on Excellence in Education, 1983) mentioned that American students struggled with higher-order processing skills and could not think critically. The report further argued that a significant problem began with the educational system's failure to value thinking. With the emphasis on accountability for student achievement, teachers began to focus instruction on the correct answer rather than the understanding of concepts (Struck, 2003). Vogler and Virtue (2007) argued that the increasing utilization of high-stakes assessments at the federal level had propagandized the notion that testing will advance the educational system. However, that was not the case. It has caused a departure from active learning, and student-focused methods such as collaboration, role play, independent studies, and practical dialogue (Vogler & Virtue, 2007). Nonetheless, as a means to an end, teaching to the test eliminated opportunities for creativity, critical thinking, problem-solving, and imagination by solely focusing on a test score (Eisner, 2004).

Shortly after his inauguration in 2001, President George W. Bush issued the No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB), one of his first major policy initiatives (Bush, 2001). Meier and Wood (2004) emphasized that NCLB proposed to provide an efficient and fair education, but the educational system became fixated on test scores. Meier and Wood further maintained that instead of the best practices to teach meaningful content, thus infecting the quality of curriculum and instruction. Despite its intent, NCLB obstructed the talents of gifted children, and mostly it forced teachers to leave gifted students to support themselves in heterogeneous classrooms (Grgich, 2009).

Subsequently, districts and schools did not feel obligated or encouraged to provide opportunities to develop individuality, diversity, innovation, creativity, or personal aspirations—all things that strengthened the American educational system and country (Gentry, 2006). Recently, stakeholders in education acknowledged that it was vital for all students to learn to reason, effectively solve problems, create knowledge, and produce information (Newman, 2008). Willis (1995) argued two paramount factors that impeded this logic involved the inclusion philosophy and issues with funding.

The inclusion philosophy proposed that all children receive their education in general classrooms and that the teacher should prepare lessons and centers that could meet the individual needs of each student by differentiating their instruction (Tomlinson, 2005; Winebrenner, 2001). However, Toth, (1999) reasoned that when left in the regular classroom, students of high ability did not have their instructional

needs met. Researchers have found that despite this knowledge, little differentiation of the curriculum was attempted (Haberlin, 2016; Reis & Renzulli, 1992).

Another major fallout from NCLB revolved around the funding of gifted programs. School districts were forced to evaluate rising demands and inadequate resources. Since gifted programs served a small number of students, they were usually the first to be dropped (Toth, 1999). Most schools and districts depended on pullout enrichment programs to meet the needs of gifted children (Toth, 1999). Due to NCLB'S failure to focus on the academic needs of gifted children and educators that support them, many districts have eliminated their gifted programs and transferred the resources to remedial programs to avoid government sanctions if students' test scores do not improve (Golden, 2004).

Furthermore, many gifted students are taught in heterogeneous classrooms, thus lacking resources and content suited to meet their interests, capabilities, needs, and their uniqueness (Westberg, Archambault, Dobyns, & Salvin, 1993). Newman (2008) argued that most teachers were not equipped to meet the needs of gifted students, and many argued that NCLB and other policies had limited their opportunity to plan and develop learning experiences for their brightest students. In these situations, most teachers resorted to strategies such as assigning extra and identical work or accelerating the regular curriculum to occupy students' time (Sisk, 1988). Additionally, previous research detailed that educators limited their curricula around themes and simple assessment questions (Grant 2006; Yeager & Davis 2005; Vogler 2005). Tomlinson (1995, 2005)

believed that if teachers were trained in differentiated instruction techniques, they might be better equipped to teach the gifted as well as students at risk for failing.

Conclusion

The reviewed research supported and uncovered weaknesses for the proposed study and bore direct influence on the methodological alignment to my proposed action research on gifted education. Theoretical and historical based studies enlightened on what was known and what was not known in a field that has seen its ascending and descending trends in interest. This proposed study was further inspired by Renzulli's (1982) work with gifted students. Renzulli (2011) supported the notion that all children, regardless of test scores, who could complete the standard curriculum content in a more condensed and streamlined order should be given a chance so that acceleration did not cause unnecessary stress or emotional problems for the child. Lastly, I was encouraged by Reis & Renzulli's research (1997), where the authors noted that when a mathematics curriculum was compacted, students scored notably higher than their contemporaries on the concept's posttest.

I examined supportive as well as conflicting evidence for this study utilizing curriculum compacting to enhance higher-order thinking in my gifted math class. The completion of exhaustive research on gifted education and current needs of gifted students has significantly prepared me to expertly create, implement, and measure the effectiveness of this unique study on teaching critical thinking skills to third-grade students' instruction on numeration systems and place value.

Summary

The literature review focused on informing me on the various theoretical perspectives used in studies on gifted education. Moving from that perspective, the literature review was focused on methodologies, and supported the use of action research as a viable approach to implementing change in a classroom. Finally, the historical overview provided closure to the literature review by bringing gifted education back into the forefront after decades of time when gifted education had lost its relevance and importance to educators. Chapter Three is an in-depth presentation of the methodology used in this study.

CHAPTER THREE: Action Research Methodology

Chapter Three is a discussion of the methodology that was used in this study. The specific purpose of this study was to determine the impact of curriculum compacting on the development of higher-order thinking among gifted students. Growth was measured by subscribed tests. The research question that drove this action research was: What are the effects of curriculum compacting on students' ability to use higher-order thinking to solve complex math problems?

This action research study sought to modify the curriculum to deepen the understanding of numeration systems and place value by implementing curriculum compacting as an alternative teaching strategy. Using an action research methodology was the most appropriate approach to answer the research question, because it involved a systematic examination of the proposed instructional process and its effects on student learning in its natural setting (Mertler, 2014).

Initially, action research was viewed as a raw alternative to the traditional, linear model of scientific research (Sawyer, 2013). A practitioner's involvement in the study was a key component because the research could be immediately applied and tested in the natural setting of the school (Sawyer, 2013). Simms (2013) proposed that teacher-researchers should utilize this inquiry approach to support their development as practitioner researchers. For these reasons, action research required me to identify an area of weakness in the teaching processes and/or materials that were used with my

students. The key idea was to identify processes that had an adverse influence on students' learning and remove them (Mertler, 2014).

Action research by design is participatory; whereby, I reflected on personal practices in the classroom and identified ways to enhance student learning by adopting an alternate teaching strategy. This design supported the transformation of three mutually dependent views, Bloom's (1956) theory of critical thinking, Vygotsky's (1978) zone of proximal development, and Tomlinson's (2000) differentiated instruction.

Methodological Approach

For this study, action research was used to determine if curriculum compacting was an effective teaching method to improve gifted students' ability to process higherorder thinking and transfer it to other content areas. Curriculum compacting was a new teaching strategy for the class of students used for this study. Compacting the curriculum of a unit of study on place value and numeration required teaching students to not only calculate answers but to go a step further and explain how they conducted the calculations. The second part of this questioning technique was aimed at deepening the students' understanding of what they did by providing them the opportunity to go beyond rote memory and use their higher-order thinking skills to respond at a deeper level. As the unit of study in math progressed, I was able to make immediate adjustments to the instruction as needed (Mertler, 2014).

Phase one. To effectively compact a curriculum, I had to be knowledgeable about its content and learning objectives (Reis & Renzulli, 1995). Also, this phase required me to identify what content was mastered and then determine which adjustments were needed. By examining pretest results, I chose suitable instructional materials

exercises that were beyond the students' level of mastery and scaffolded the student to the next cognitive level (Reis & Renzulli, 1992). The strategies used for this study involved a multitude of creative approaches to teaching numeration systems and place value to third-grade gifted students which will be discussed in Chapter Five.

Phase two. Throughout the instructional phase, I recorded and measured the students' progress in their ability to use higher-order thinking. The lessons moved students from knowing and understanding place value to problem-solving beyond a superficial understanding of numeration systems by using higher-order thinking skills (Struck, 2003; Stella, & Fleming, 2011). At the conclusion of the second phase, the students were given a posttest to assess their ability to use higher-order thinking on the place value subject matter.

Research in Context

The proposed action research was teacher-implemented and student-centered. It was classroom-based and intended to make a change within the natural setting of my gifted pull-out program classroom (Mertler, 2014). This action research did not focus on rigor and generalizations because the study intended to improve my teaching practices and increase my students' ability to think critically. I sought to share the results with other educators within the district.

This study was conducted at a public school in South Carolina. The school is nestled in a rural, upper-middle-class neighborhood in Richland County. Due to its close vicinity to a military base, a large portion of the school's population is comprised of students from military families. Districts that are highly populated with military families receive both the benefits of their diverse learning experiences as well as the problems that

can occur with program enrollment. This point was critical to note because enrollment in all programs, including my gifted program, were affected by transient students' unpredictable attendance and enrollment. For instance, the study began with 15 students, but only 12 students remained in the district until the end of the intervention.

Site of intervention implementation. The school site used for this action research was established in 2011 and is considered to be a state-of-the-art facility both from an innovative instructional perspective as well as meeting the technology curve. Every classroom is equipped with an interactive SmartBoard, and all students in grades two through five are supplied with Google Chromebooks. The total school enrollment was school approximately 500 students. The student to teacher ratio was 13:1 which was considerably lower than the state and national average for all American elementary schools (South Carolina Department of Education, 2016).

It was interesting to note that during the school's first year in 2011, it received an "excellent" absolute rating on its first-year school report card. The school maintained an "excellent" rating for the next three years (South Carolina Department of Education, 2016). However, during the last three years, the school's overall performance and growth have steadily declined. The school came down from an "excellent" to a "good" absolute rating and has since declined to "below average" (South Carolina Department of Education, 2016). Although it was not the aim of this action research to increase the school ratings and enrollment, the results of this action research were offered as a possible strategy to improve classroom outcomes one class at a time.

Administrative and parental support for the implementation was requested and received. A written explanation outlining the nature of the study, the type of activities,

and the length of the study were presented to the school administrators for their written consent. A meeting was held to acquire informed consent signatures from the parents. Mertler (2014) noted that informed consent protects the privacy of students and parents. During this study, I was forthcoming about the purpose of the study, procedures for data collection, and how the data would be used and kept. Both administration and parents were apprised of progress at various intervals.

Participant description. The student-participants qualified for the GT program based on scores from the Measures of Academic Progress, RAVEN's Progressive Matrices, and Otis-Lennon School Ability Test® Eighth Edition (OLSAT 8®) assessments and teacher recommendations. There were 15 student participants in the third-grade gifted math class; however, three students exited the program before taking the final assessment. The group was ethnically diverse but homogeneously grouped for ability. The ethnic breakdown was: one multiracial student, four blacks, one Hispanic, and six white students. There was one child who qualified as an English as a Second Language (ESL) student.

Protecting participants. Parents were asked to sign a permission form authorizing their consent for me to include their students in this study. If they opted out, I respected their wishes and provided an alternate assignment for the student and found another location for the student to work outside of the classroom during the time of implementation. It was equally important for the students in this study to know what I was doing and why. From the onset, I included them in conversations explaining the process and informed them that if they felt uncomfortable, they could approach me privately for discussion. As a dedicated teacher, I had established a strong rapport with

administrators, parents, and students. It was, for this reason, I did not anticipate that anyone would object to this study which was aimed at increasing students' higher-order thinking skills. Furthermore, everyone agreed to participate in the study. Unfortunately, three students left during the study.

Role of researcher. I am a specialist in the GT field. Additionally, I was trained in designing and selecting appropriate differentiation strategies for diverse groups of exceptional students and then sharing these activities with other teachers in a lead-teacher capacity. I was responsible for maintaining ethically appropriate practices throughout the study. As a participant in the study, I implemented the study with the highest level of integrity. In my role as a teacher, I implemented the strategy, and, in the researcher role, I monitored student progress.

My role as the researcher was to maintain a dual role of teacher-researcher. In the teacher role, I was looked closely at the work of students generated in my classroom. For this study, I targeted higher-order thinking skill development for gifted students. I developed an intervention using a curriculum compacting strategy to enhance the higher-order thinking levels of the third-grade gifted math class. I created an appropriate action research plan to be applied. I engaged in evaluative and reflective practices to measure success, modify strategies, and assess student progress (Mertler, 2014).

Validity and Authenticity

Action research validity. Action research is teacher implemented and studentcentered. It is classroom-based and intended for making a change within the natural setting of my gifted pull-out program classroom (Mertler, 2014). This action research did not focus on rigor and generalizations because the aim was more on individual self-

improvement rather than on how to improve larger scale processes and enable change within the gifted programs.

Limited generalizability. Armed with an understanding that action research results are not conclusive and generalizable beyond my immediate classroom, I developed plans that likely increased the value of the study to similarly constructed classrooms. Moving beyond this study, I plan to replicate this study using different subject areas and grade levels. Until more defined credibility and reliability are established, I can share findings with peers and perhaps share the results as positive intervention outcomes in teach and instructional journals.

Internal validity. A researcher can strengthen the action research design if specific processes are incorporated. First, internal validity can be increased if expert researchers in the field provide input. If they agree on the careful assessment by the university, then experts in research will ensure alignment of the problem, purpose, design, and research questions.

Design of the Study

Almalki, (2016) emphasized that an action research plan can produce a more comprehensive and fluid view of the phenomenon. I followed the action research cycle of planning, acting, developing, and reflecting to answer the study's research question (Mertler, 2014).

Planning. Mertler (2014) branded the first step in action research as the "planning" phase. During this phase, I identified the problem of practice in my classrooms, examined related literature, and developed an appropriate research problem, purpose, and research question. As part of the approval for the study, I identified the

problem and proposal for an intervention to the University. Simultaneously, I obtained the support and approval of the appropriate administrators at the research location. Once approvals were acquired, I began to develop the implementation strategy. To develop the most suitable strategy, I engaged in a thorough literature review of best practices in teaching the gifted students.

As part of the planning stage, I met with the students' parents. During this meeting, I explained that this study was an action research project to attain a doctoral degree. I supported the rationale for the intervention with relevant research emphasizing the need to challenge the thinking of gifted students and moving them beyond routine math skills. The parents were informed that their input would be requested following the nine-week long intervention

Acting

Mertler (2014) indicated that the second phase of the action research process is the acting stage. During this stage, the objective was to implement the study, collect and analyze data (Mertler, 2014). For this study, I collected quantitative data in the form of pre- and post-intervention assessments. The assessments were directly linked to the lessons taught and were part of the materials supplied with the curriculum (Gavin, Chapin, Dailey, & Sheffield, 2006). Based on the structure of the curriculum, the optimal time to begin the study was during the beginning of the fall or spring semester.

Implementation of the Intervention. The intervention began on a unit of study on place value. The first step was to administer a pretest to the students before beginning the curriculum compacting strategies. The prescribed test was included in the administrator's manual for the curriculum and was used as both the pre and post

assessment. In the unit of study on place value used in this proposed action research, *Unraveling the Mystery of the MoLi Stone*, students explored the numeration system in depth. The Three Big Ideas were patterns, groupings, and symbols that helped students develop their higher-order thinking skills (Gavin, Chapin, Dailey, & Sheffield, 2006; Sutton, 2010). The nine weeks of instruction were included along with the objectives.

Week one. The participants were assessed using the prescribed test. During the first week, the students deepened their understanding of regrouping in a place-value system by renaming two-digit numbers through the game, *Maneki Neko Bank* (Gavin, Chapin, Dailey, & Sheffield, 2006). The participants substantiated all possible dime and penny combinations for 52¢ by creating an in-depth list and then looking for patterns to generalize about regrouping two and three-digit numbers (Gavin et al. 2006).

Week two. During the second week, the students played *Some Sum* to understand the significance of place value in adding and subtracting two-digit numbers. The participants used the game to determine strategies to create the largest sum or smallest difference (Gavin et al., 2006).

Week three. During the third week, the participants played the *Land of Treble* to investigate addition and regrouping in base three numeration systems. By playing the game, the participants learned to regroup in order to add more value to a given number or equation (Gavin et al., 2006).

Week four. During the fourth week, the participants played *Land of Treble Subtraction,* and investigated regrouping and subtraction in a base three numeration system (Gavin et al., 2006).

Week five. During the fifth week, the participants played *The Race in a Base* and evaluated adding and subtracting in base three and base ten to compare the similarities and differences (Gavin et al., 2006).

Week six. In the sixth week, the participants played, *Ancient Egyptian Numerals*, in order to understand the values of the Egyptian numeration system symbols (Gavin et al., 2006). The students compared the Egyptian symbols with the base-ten digits in our number system (Gavin et al., 2006).

Week seven. During the seventh week, the participants played, *Egyptian Sums* and *Differences*, to add and subtract in the Egyptian system to evaluate the role of zero in the American numeration system (Gavin et al., 2006).

Week eight. In the eighth week, the participants played, *A Mysterious Number System*, to understand the Chinese numeration system and compare it with the American numeration system as they gained a deeper understanding of expanded notation (Gavin et al., 2006).

Week nine. During the final week, participants played, *Creating Your Own Numeration System*, in order to generate and assemble their numeration system addressing groupings, place value, and symbols (Gavin et al., 2006). The posttest was given to the participants to assess their academic growth.

Developing

The purpose of action research was grounded in the philosophy that some action will result from your research study (Johnsson, 2008). Brighton and Moon (2007) emphasized that a teacher-researcher must make sense out of the data. Typically, the developing stage consisted of strategies for future implementation of treatments,

interventions, modifications, and improvements to curriculum and instructional methods. Since the data revealed a possible connection between curriculum compacting and improvement of higher order thinking skills, the findings were available to other general and gifted teachers.

Data Collection

I used the pre- and post-assessments constructed by Project M³ that required students to explore the core concepts of place value: patterns, groupings, and symbols (Gavin et al., 2006). Gavin et al., (2006) noted higher-order thinking occurred when students investigated the differences between place value, various bases, and other number systems (Chinese and Egyptians) concepts that are taught at higher grade levels. I used the rubric attached to the assessment for scoring (Gavin et al., 2006). Upon completing the required instructional activities, I used the final phase of the compacting process which required cooperative decision making and creativity from the teacher and colleagues. I received enrichment resources from colleagues, the librarian, the media specialist, content specialist, and other gifted specialists.

Instrument of Measurement. The pre- and post-assessments (See Appendix D) were constructed by Project M³ requiring students to explore the core concepts of place value: patterns, groupings, and symbols (Gavin et al., 2006). M³: Mentoring Mathematical Minds stemmed from a five-year Javits research grant project in which curriculum units were crafted with elements that were advantageous for gifted elementary students. Gavin et al. (2016) described Project M³ as a combination of the best teaching practices of gifted education with the content as well as process standards promoted by the National Council of Teachers of Mathematics. Project M³'s subject matter at each

level was at least one to two grade levels above the typical curriculum. The highlight of the pedagogy encouraged students to practice as professionals by accentuating verbal and written communication. That means that the students are taught not only how to find the answer, but also how to explain the answer, which is an essential learning component (Gavin et al., 2006). Gavin et al., (2006) noted higher-order thinking occurred when students investigated the differences between place value, various bases, and another number system (Chinese and Egyptian) concepts taught at higher grade levels.

Reliability and Validity of Instrument. To ensure reliability and validity, the Project M³ staff utilized student responses on the pretests to identify roughly five samples for each question varying in levels of complexity; they then used a rubric to score them (See Appendix E). They used the various samples during the professional development meetings before the instruction of each unit to guide teachers on how to score the tests. Also, teachers also scored the pretest and posttests using the same rubrics. Project M³'s research team scored all pre- and posttests twice. If the first and second set of scores on any subcomponent of any question did not match, another staff member scored it a third time. Afterward, expert scorers discussed any discrepancies until a consensus was reached, thus ensuring inter-rater agreement.

Data analysis. According to Cochran-Smith, Barnatt, Friedman, & Pine (2009), conducting an action research intervention is complex and challenging because the teacher-researcher takes on multiple responsibilities; they plan, implement, collect and analyze data, and upon reflecting on the findings, they also critique and revise the intervention. To assess the impact of curriculum compacting, I employed a quantitative approach to the action research. Data was in the form of numbers instead of narrative.

Quantitative methodology is advantageous for studies that involve numbers, such as preand posttest that measure achievement gaps between groups of students or assessing the effectiveness of a curriculum.

For analysis, I applied a pre-posttest design to be analyzed with the use of normalized gains. I utilized normalized gain to analyze the data because using this measure strongly differentiated between teaching methods, but according to Hake (1998) allowed for "a consistent analysis over diverse student populations with widely varying initial knowledge states." Naturally, it appeared to be useful for independent members of the population or pretest scores, which allowed me to compare each student's academic growth (Hake, 1998). The scores were charted using graphs to identify any growth and any possible outliers that may skew the data.

Reflecting

The final phase, reflecting, was defined by Mertler (2014) as when the action researcher engages in summarizing the results of the study and reflects on the impact of the results as it relates to student outcomes. At this stage, the researcher begins to formulate plans to create a strategy for sharing the results with the administration, parents, other teachers and in private one-on-one conferences with each of my students. Afterward the study, I reflected on the entire process and considered ways to improve the intervention and the assessment.

Attributable to the nature of action research, no generalizations were made nor were control groups used. One single class of a diverse group of gifted students comprised the participants. It could be said that if the intervention was replicated on the same age and type of students and the same instructional materials and activities are used,

the results might be comparable provided that all the same conditions were met. When this unit is taught to another group of similarly gifted students, comparable results might be expected. The replication and acquisition of similar results could increase the reliability of the study as described. However, this was not the goal.

Parents and other school personnel were invited to observe the intervention and asked to provide an outsiders-look into the process. For the purpose of gathering information, I collected the required information from the other stakeholders by conversing with them during a focus-group session to discuss and critique the intervention after they observed. Afterward, I gathered all the data used in this reflection and analyzed the stages of the study. After a thorough review, when all the possible glitches are removed, the teacher-researcher will proceed to the presentation and publication stage of his study. The gifted and talented organization, National Association for Gifted Children (NAGC) meets every year and welcomes the proposal for presentations. Other sources for publication may be The Gifted Child Today, Gifted Child Quarterly, and Teaching Children Mathematics.

Ethical Considerations

A discussion on ethical considerations in any study primarily focuses on the fidelity of the researcher's work. However, there was a broader scope of ethics that acted as an overall umbrella and has further reaching importance. I began with a discussion of the ethical delivery of education to all students and their right to be taught at their level of instruction.

Mertler (2014) stressed that honesty should be displayed by the action researcher at all times. He further emphasized that researchers must be truthful about the purpose of

the study and ethical handling of the data collected (Mertler, 2014). The National Forum on Educational Statistic (NFES, 2010) noted that educators should avoid the release of data that could lead to physical, mental, or emotional harm to others. Additionally, NFES (2010) instructed researchers to establish and enforce security procedures and mechanisms necessary for protecting all sensitive data from inappropriate release and use. The guaranteed protection for each participant was my top priority. Mertler (2014) asserted that no participant should be forced into participating in any study and should have the ability to withdraw at any given time without consequences. To guarantee anonymity and confidentiality, pseudonyms were used when disclosing information within this action research study. All quantitative data were coded to comply with the confidentiality agreement.

Concerning the personal ethical responsibilities in implementing this intervention, I was obligated first and foremost to safeguard the wellbeing of the students. I maintained this obligation throughout the study, but during the implementation of a new strategy in this action research project, my daily ethical responsibilities increased and reached beyond the classroom. I began this process by gaining all appropriate approvals from both the university, district offices, and from the parents and students as well.

It was the ethical responsibility of the teacher to provide differentiated instruction to gifted students in order to meet their unique instructional and interest levels. Charged with this responsibility as a teacher of the gifted, I felt strongly committed to this cause. A plan was developed to tap into the higher-order thinking skills of my gifted students and met them at their appropriate level of instruction.

Summary

This chapter was a presentation of the methodology used for the current study's action research. My role as a researcher and the context of the study was discussed. The demographics of the sample participants were defined. The components of curriculum compacting and how it was utilized in the study intervention were detailed. Plan for data collection and data analysis were explained

Chapter Four is a presentation of the descriptive and inferential statistical analysis. After the completion of this dissertation, I will move forward to implement a new action plan. At this post-doctoral stage, several iterations of the intervention will be implemented. Each implementation will include appropriate adjustments until there is a statistical confidence level worthy for publication and presentations.
CHAPTER FOUR: Findings from the Data

Chapter Four is a discussion of findings. The data from this study was gathered through an implementation of curriculum compacting to teach mathematical place value at an in-depth level to a third grade gifted and talented class of 12 students. The findings of the pre and posttests from the place value unit of study preceded the narrative findings that described the students' growth and experiences. The narrative information was followed by statements from the participants regarding their emotionality after the preand posttest on the curriculum's unit on place value. The specific purpose of this study was to measure the difference between the pre- and posttest scores of third-grade gifted students when instructed using the curriculum compacting strategy to teach place value. A by-product of using higher-order thinking was to increase engagement and attainment while decreasing underachievement.

Most eductors found teaching gifted students to be a tricky task. If the work is not engaging or challenging enough, GT students can become easily bored. Ironically, if they become accustomed to a lack of challenges, when faced with one, they begin to develop unfavorable emotional responses. The problem of this study began in my students' general education classroom. Several of my GT students developed behavior and academic issues while in their classroom. My GT students stated that the subject matter and materials used were useless and boring. Many of my GT students mastered every standard on place value, easily. Since the teacher's instruction covered what they had mastered, many of them resorted to off-task and disruptive behaviors in the

classroom. The teacher approached me to seek advice on curricula and strategies that she could use to mediate their off-task and unruly behaviors.

Nevertheless, literature for gifted education and mathematics suggested support for a curriculum that is both enriched and accelerated with an emphasis on cultivating conceptual understanding and mathematical thinking. After investigating a few alternatives, I found a curriculum, M³ Mentoring Mathematical Minds, that aligned with the compacting strategy. For this study, the quantitative approach was appropriate to measure the differences in the students' pre- and posttest scores. After the implementation of the prescribed instructional activities, the same assessment was used to gauge the progression or recession of higher-order thinking skills. Student scores revealed the influence of a curriculum compacting intervention on higher-order thinking skills. A description of the pre and posttests used before and after the curriculum compacting is in Table 1. Table 2 displays the raw scores and growth of each participant. Table 3 displays the statistical calculation of the normalized gain.

Research Question

The research question that guided this study was as follows: What are the effects of curriculum compacting on students' ability to use higher-order thinking to solve complex math problems? This study's data was grounded in Bloom's (1956) taxonomy, Zygotsky's (1978) zone of proximal, Tomlinson's (1995) development differentiated instruction.

Data Collection

The curriculum compacting intervention took place over nine weeks. The process began with a pretest taken from the Project M^3 end-of-unit assessment. Both the pre- and

posttests were the same. Practice effect was eliminated due to the nine-week span of time between the two testing sessions. The pretest scores were recorded for each student. For the next seven weeks, the curriculum compacting strategy was used to teach the unit on place value. At the end of the instruction, a posttest was given, and the students' scores were recorded. During the pretest, many of my students unexpectedly had adverse emotional responses to the assessment. I noted any emotional episodes and interviewed them for responses. During the posttest, I noted any changes in the emotional responses of the students as well.

Instrumentation and Scoring Criteria

Project M³ prescribed assessment comprised of three questions and was given to all students. Each of the three questions had either two or three sub-questions. The point values for each question are described in Table 1. The point values increased as the level of higher-order thinking and analysis increased. The students had to solve the computation as well as justify their answers through writing. The objective of using curriculum compacting was to deepen the analysis and evaluation levels of higher-order thinking.

Discussion of Findings

Before the implementation of the curriculum compacting strategy, the students were given the pre/posttest. The students were allowed to take as much time as possible. The prescribed assessment contained three questions, each with two additional subquestions (See Appendix E). The initial questions required the participants to solve an equation. The following questions required the participants to build on the previous

answer and justify their reasoning through writing. The following will be a narrative of

each test item.

Table 4.1

Scoring values for each question on the Project M^3 unit test on numeration

Question 1 A (1 point)	B (2 points)	C (4 points)	
Focus: Understanding of place value and computation.	Focus: Understanding of place value where the digit 5 has a value of 50 and the digit 6 has a value of 60. Although the commutative property is correct (1-point answer), the understanding is not as advanced as the 2- point answer.	Focus: Understanding of place value where the digit 4 has a value of the 40 and the digit 5 has a value of 50 and placing the 7 in the tens place increases the value of the sum by a multiple of ten (versus by ones if placed in the ones place). Replacing the would increase the sum by 30 and replacing the would only increase it by 20.	
Question 2 A (2 points)	B (2 points)	C (2 points)	
Focus: Understanding of place value and regrouping for addition.	Focus: Understanding of place value, regrouping for addition and representing trades.	Focus: Understanding of place value, regrouping for subtraction and representing trades.	
Question 3 A (1 point)	B (1 point)	C (4 points)	
Focus: Understanding of symbolic numeration system.	Focus: Understanding of symbolic numeration system and the representation of zero.	Focus: Understanding of zero in our place-value system (i.e., base ten), and how to justify ideas using both examples and words.	

Question 1(a) provided four digits: 5, 2, 4, & 6. The students were required to create the largest sum using all four digits. The students needed an understanding of

place and computation to solve this problem correctly. This was a one-point question. According to Bloom's (1956) taxonomy (BT), this was at the understanding and applying level. Before instruction, sixty percent of my class successfully completed the computations. After instruction, ninety-two percent successfully completed the computations.

Question 1(b) required the students to find the largest sum they could make using all four digits. To solve this problem, the students needed an understanding place value and the commutative property to get the highest sum. This question was worth two points. According to Bloom's taxonomy, this type of question was at the applying and analyzing levels. Prior to instruction, only thirteen percent of my students were able to solve this problem, but all were successful after instruction.

Question 1(c) required the students to analyze the addends 56 and 42. The students were given the digit 7 and required to replace one of the digits in the addends to create a larger sum. After finding the correct answer, the participants had to explain why they chose to replace that digit with the digit 7. This question was worth four points. According to Bloom's (1956) taxonomy, this question was at the analyze, evaluate, and create levels. Prior to instruction, thirteen percent of my students were able to solve this problem, but all were able to solve this problem after instruction.

Question 2(a) focused on place and regrouping for addition while using a base-3 number system. For clarification, a base is a number that identifies the grouping for the base system and the exponent tells students how many times the base will be used (Hayes, 2001). In a base-three system, there are only three digits 0, 1, and 2. To regroup in a base-three system, one must collect a set of three to trade for one three, just as we

collect a set of 10 ones to trade for one ten in the base-ten system (Hayes, 2001). For this question, the students were informed that 3 "gickles" equals 1 "bickle" and 3 "bickles" equals 1 "rickle." The students were given a mat and a die to find out how many tiles they need to collect and trade. The purpose of this activity was to reduce the number of tiles by regrouping, but still maintain the most statistically. The question was worth two points. According to Bloom's taxonomy, this type of question was at the understanding, applying, and analyzing levels. Prior to instruction, forty percent were able to solve this problem, but ninety-two were able to solve this problem after instruction.

The next question, 2(b), required the students to analyze a given answer regarding the previously used mat and tiles. This question focused on understanding place value and regrouping for addition. The participants were asked to add five more tiles to Sara's game mat and then regroup the total. The participants were required to use the terms gickles, bickles, and rickles. The question was worth two points. According to Bloom's taxonomy, this type of question was at the applying and analyzing levels. Prior to instruction, twenty percent were able to solve this problem, but eighty-three percent were able to solve this problem after instruction.

The next question 2(c) focused on understanding place value and regrouping for subtraction. The participants were asked to remove five tiles from Raphael's game mat and then regroup the total. The participants were required to use the terms gickles, bickles, and rickles. The question was worth two points. According to Bloom's taxonomy, this type of question was at the applying and analyzing levels. Prior to instruction, twenty percent were able to solve this problem, but seventy-four percent were able to solve this problem after instruction.

Question 3(a) focused on the understanding of symbolic numeration system. The students were given "Martian" symbols that had a specific number of values attached to them and asked to compare it to our number system. The participants were asked to write 527 using the Martian math symbols. This question was worth one point. According to Bloom's (1956) taxonomy, this type of question was at the understanding, applying, and analyzing levels. Prior to instruction, seventy-three percent were able to solve this problem, but everyone was able to solve this problem after instruction.

Question 3(b) focused on the understanding of symbolic numeration system and the representation of zero. The zero is important in our place-value system because it allows us to represent when there is no value of a particular place-value group (e.g., in 102 there are no groups of ten). The participants were asked to write 3,605 using the Martian math symbols. The question was worth one point. According to Bloom's (1956) taxonomy, this type of question was at the applying, analyzing, and evaluating levels. Prior to instruction, eighty-seven percent were able to solve this problem, but ninety-two percent were able to solve this problem after instruction.

Question 3(c) focused on the understanding of zero in our place-value system (i.e., base ten), and how to justify ideas using both examples and words. The participants were asked to recognize that the Martian system did not have a zero, but our number system does. Then they were asked to give two ways the zero was used in our number system. Afterward, they had to provide examples and justify their answers through written response. This question was worth four points. According to Bloom's (1956) taxonomy, this type of question was at the analyzing, evaluating, and creating levels.

Prior to instruction, no students were able to solve this problem, but eighty-three percent were able to solve this problem after instruction.

Participant	Pretest %	Posttest %	Growth %
Cameron	37	95	58
Elah	29	100	71
Bryson	0	68	68
Karla	26	89	63
Mary	26	100	74
Maggie	16	97	82
Erin	26	100	74
Langston	11	100	89
Zion	37	95	68
Shelly	13	89	76
Kira	32	95	63
Tara	32	100	68
Amerie	32	N/A	N/A
Lola	26	N/A	N/A
Kelly	32	N/A	N/A

Table 4.2Descriptive Data on Pre and Post Test Growth

The pre- and posttest calculations were performed using an Excel spreadsheet. In an attempt to determine the viability of curriculum compacting as pedagogy in a thirdgrade gifted math class, research results were combined from the one-group pretestposttest method and summarized in Table 2 and Figure 1. In Table 2 and Figure 1, the participants' scores were listed. Many of the participants struggled on the pretest. However, after the implementation of the intervention, nearly all of the students made substantial gains in their raw scores. The lowest growth amount was 58 points. Following the intervention, five students were able to earn perfect scores on the posttest. The students performed well on the posttest with all 12 students increasing their raw gain by at least fifty-five percent. The average combined raw gained for the entire class sixtyeight percent.



Figure 4.1. Growth in Project M³ test scores comparing pre- and posttest scores

Student	Pretest %	Posttest %	Growth %	Normalized Gain
Cameron	.037	.095	.058	0.137
Elah	.029	1.000	.071	0.129
Bryson	.000	.068	.068	0.130
Karla	.026	.089	.063	0.112
Mary	.026	1.000	.074	0.147
Maggie	.016	.097	.082	0.142
Erin	.026	1.000	.074	0.147

Table 4.3Calculation of Normalized Gain

Langston	.011	1.000	.089	0.155	
Zion	.037	.095	.068	0.137	
Shelly	.013	.089	.076	0.108	
Kira	.032	.095	.063	0.128	
Tara	.032	1.000	.068	0.147	

For this unit, the students showed minimal normalized gains between the pretest and posttest. The students did, though, show an increased understanding of place value after the implementation of curriculum compacting. All of the students' normalized gains fell between 13% and 18%. Madsen, McKagan, and Sayre (2017) suggested that normalized gains have traditional boundaries: small gains are defined as less than .30, medium gains are defined as between .30 and .69, and large gains are defined as greater than .70. All of the students had a raw gain between fifty-three percent and eighty percent. The normalized gains for the class remained below sixteen percent that is considered small. Table 3 displays the normalized gain for each student. The low scores and the lack of deviations of the scores were typical characteristics of homogeneous gifted classrooms (Winebrenner, 2000). Though the quantitative results must be interpreted cautiously due to a low number of students in the study, the results suggested that curriculum compacting is a viable pedagogy for use in a gifted, third-grade math class.

Additional Observations and Insights

Curriculum compacting and this unit on place value were chosen because the questions were aimed at higher level thinking. The students were required to calculate the correct answer as well as write an explanation of how they did the calculation. This type of questioning was different for the students who had never been instructed with the curriculum compacting strategy. During the pretest, the students began to display

emotional distress that led me to use observation notes to document the students' levels of distress after the Project M³ testing. Gifted and talented students have, by nature, the propensity to perform well academically (Brulles & Winebrenner, 2012). The gifted student population does not take failure in stride as they seek perfection in all things (Gentry, 2016). Therefore, taking a test on place value prior to instruction could have caused them to experience stress and anxiety. While this was not officially a part of my study, I observed and recorded my student's responses here as additional insights. These insights are discussed more as implications for future research in Chapter Five.

Due to the content being beyond their level of mastery, it was essential to scaffold the students until they were able to solve the math problems independently. Vygotsky (1978) labeled this concept of taking a student's learning from an identified place of discomfort and scaffolding them to zone or space of knowledge as zone of proximal development (ZPD). Additionally, because the previous curriculum was far from challenging for them, this venture into the unknown was daunting and emotionally draining. Through my teaching strategies and supportive comments of assurance in their ability, the students were able to build their confidence and their mastery concurrently. Below is a description of some of the comments made by the students during and after the pre- and posttest.

Cameron: This participant scored thirty-seven percent on the pretest. The participant seemed frustrated with his inability to master the content. Cameron cried while taking the pretest. He stated, "I do not feel as confident when I take a test before I practice on the subject or learn more about that subject. I did not like it very much." After instruction, Cameron scored ninety-five percent and expressed more confidence.

He stated, "I overcame the challenges by learning the lessons, and it gave me a little bit of encouragement when I was doing something very challenging or difficult. Persisting helped me by keeping me from giving up, and it told me that I should keep trying no matter what."

Elah: This participant scored twenty-nine percent on the pretest. The participant became extremely emotional during the pretest. When I inquired about her feelings, she responded, "It is like riding a roller coaster; you are excited on the way up, then you fall all the way down. It is tough and scary." After instruction, she earned a perfect score. She stated, "I applied past knowledge to a new situation and took responsible risks to improve my scores."

Bryson: This participant did not answer one question on the pretest. She threw the test in the trash. When I inquired about her feelings, she responded, "I feel kind of insecure, like I cannot do anything. It is like everyone is doing so good, and I am about to score an F. I know that sounds crazy, but that is how I really feel." After instruction, she scored a sixty-eight percent. When I inquired about her feelings, she stated, "I remembered that I am smart. Persisting helped me not give up whenever things got hard, and I used my common sense."

Maggie: The participant scored sixteen percent on the pretest. She became inconsolable and unable to finish the pretest. When I inquired about her feelings, she responded, "I feel a little uneasy. I feel out of place. I do not feel confident in myself. I do not like taking a test without learning or studying. Sometimes I feel okay, but most of the time I get frustrated or upset." After instruction, she scored ninety-seven percent on the posttest. When I inquired about her feelings, she responded, "I persisted and stayed

calm. I persisted in answering the questions, and I used 'managing impulsivity' to stop from showing that I was upset."

Erin: This participant scored twenty-seven percent on the pretest. She became flustered during the pretest. When I inquired about her feelings, she responded, "I feel scared, unconfident, and surprised. I wanted to give up the second I saw the test. I felt like it was going to take me all day. I was so insecure and thought I could not do it." After instruction, she earned a perfect score. When I inquired about her feelings, she responded, "I had to take a responsible risk and at least try. I knew I was going to cry, but I persisted. I applied past knowledge to new situations."

Langston: The participant scored eleven percent on the pretest. He shut down emotionally and refused to take the assessment. When I inquired about his feelings, he responded, "I feel angry and upset because we did not even get to study and it is the beginning of the school year. We don't know enough about the topic so how can I get a 100 on the test!" After instruction, he earned a perfect score. When I inquired about his feelings, he responded, "I just applied past knowledge to a new problem."

Zion: The participant scored a thirty-seven on the pretest. She did not show much emotion during the pretest. When I inquired about her feelings, she responded, "I feel confident about taking this test. I feel like I can do anything. I can feel confident about something and not do well. Sometimes, I study similar things for fun at home." After instruction, she scored eighty-nine percent on the posttest. When I inquired about her feelings, she responded "I just think flexibly when doing the math. It helps me think outside-the-box to solve problems."

Reflection

This action research project aimed to identify an overall problem in the instructional methods used with gifted students in a third-grade pull-out class. Project M³ was selected to augment the premise of this study that third-grade gifted students should be taught with a different curriculum than a generic program. The aim was to increase the level of higher-order thinking deemed by me as more appropriately meeting the instructional needs of the gifted. It was atypical for me to give a test on a subject matter the students had not been previously taught. The participants wanted to do very well on the pretest because it was an assessment, and they desire to do well academically. During the intervention a new problem emerged, many students developed and displayed test anxiety. This new issue prompted me to include anxiety as a factor to note.

Quantitative data were appropriate to measure growth in this study, but the emotionality demonstrated could not be dismissed. Observations were made throughout the intervention to note emotional responses both verbally and non-verbally. Also, the students were allowed to express their emotions through writing. It was logical to gain an insight on how GT students' felt and the potential role that anxiety played when new processes were assessed.

Hence, the descriptive data were not used to answer questions about how/when/why the characteristics occurred. That was not the focus of this study; however, the information was considered necessary because I was bound by ethical considerations for the health and welfare of the students participating in the study at all times. Based on the behavior patterns for gifted students, I understood there was a strong tendency toward anxiety associated with perfectionism. Due to this knowledge, I noted

their emotional reactions throughout the study. Their emotional state could not be jeopardized in any way. When a few students began to cry out of frustration of being tested on material not already taught, I was quick to calm them down and inform them it was okay to cry, but that they would be fine. It was at this point that I decided to reemphasize to the students that the pretest did not count toward their grade. Brief excerpts of their verbalizations were documented. I noted that for some students their anxiety remained high while for others it decreased after they were instructed.

The viability of curriculum compacting was evaluated by calculating raw and normalized gains based on student scores on assessments in the place value unit of study. Higher raw and normalized gains indicated greater viability for curriculum compacting as a pedagogy for students in a gifted math class, because those measurements indicate that students have a better understanding of place value and numeration systems. This analysis was unique within literature pertaining to curriculum compacting for gifted third-graders due to there being limited previously published studies. As a result, this dissertation contributed to theoretical and experimental research in gifted education.

Conclusion

Chapter Four focused on the findings from the primary research questions, academic growth between the pre- and posttest, and my observational notes of students' anxiety behaviors before and after the pre- and posttests. Complementing my quest for knowledge on supporting the development of higher order thinking skills while caring for their emotionality was the implementation of both an actual data collecting test and observational notes. Chapter Five interprets the data found in this study. Also, ways to use the data to impart more in-depth thinking skills for gifted students is discussed.

CHAPTER FIVE: Discussion, Implications, and Recommendations

This study used an action research design to improve my teaching practices and increase my students' ability to use higher-order thinking. The problem of practice for this study was to determine the viability of curriculum compacting as an instructional methodology for gifted and talented students. To evaluate this problem of practice, I incorporated a unit of study on place value and numeration during a nine-week period.

To quantify the feasibility of curriculum compacting, students' pre- and postinstruction knowledge were assessed using a one-group pretest-posttest method. For this method, students were assessed by the Mentoring Mathematical Minds' unit assessment prior to the implementation of the treatment. The same assessment was used following the nine-week treatment to measure academic growth. Raw growth and average normalized gain were calculated with student scores on each assessment. This information yielded valuable information about the viability of curriculum compacting with gifted math students.

Additionally, student scores were graphed to display the relationship between the pretest and posttest scores for the assessment. Observation notes, student vocalized concerns, and responses were recorded to document student anxiety levels, thereby allowing me to record students' emotionality. The data gathered provided a critical baseline for information on the students' ability to use higher-order thinking as well as the role that test anxiety can play on their academic ability.

Research Question

What are the effects of curriculum compacting on students' ability to use higherorder thinking to solve complex math problems?

Overview/Summary of the Study

The purpose of this study was to measure the effects of curriculum compacting on students' ability to use higher-order thinking to solve complex math problems. Chapter Two reviewed existing literature on various aspects of gifted education: historical development of gifted education, the context of gifted education, theoretical and conceptual frameworks, application of curriculum compacting, and higher-order thinking. Chapter Three discussed the methodology of action researched to collect data. In Chapter Four, I thoroughly described and interpreted the data collected during the study such as students pre- and posttest as well as my observational notes.

The problem of practice for this study was that my third-grade gifted students had mastered the place value standard in their general education math class. As a result, many students became bored, disruptive, and needed a challenge. Over time, the students in this study became accustomed to the lack of rigor and struggled to utilize higher-order thinking skills when required. This led to the investigation of curriculum compacting and how challenging and scaffolding students could increase their academic success. The new method of teaching indicated that by taking the students beyond their academic ability and scaffolding them could increase their ability use higher-order thinking.

Major Points of Study

This study involved twelve gifted and talented 3rd-grade students in a pull-out math class. Quantitative data was collected to determine the level of impact the nine-

week intervention would have on third-grade gifted math students' utilization of higherorder thinking. Throughout this action research study, I used curriculum compacting as an instructional model to help my students engage in higher-order thinking. The students were able to show that the strategies and content used in curriculum compacting were capable of improving their ability to use higher-order thinking. Through the activities, they were able to critically think and apply their knowledge to other tasks and content areas. Along with answering the research question, I addressed other elements that may have impacted my GT students' academic performance. Below, I detailed the major points that emerged during the study.

Point One: Effective curriculum to reduce underachievement. Historically, gifted students have not been considered at-risk for academic failure, but there has been a growing concern based on the recent trend of GT students dropping out of school (Colangelo, 2004; Renzulli & Reis, 1994). Rubenstein, Siegle, Reis, McCoach, and Burton (2012) argued that the impact of underachievement has been far-reaching. Underachievement can cause social-emotional damage as well as obstruct a child's life mission of efficacy (Rubenstein, Siegle, Reis, McCoach, & Burton, 2012). There is no universal definition of a gifted underachiever, but Reis, McCoach, and Burton (2012) provided a comprehensive one: underachievers are learners who display an acute discrepancy between expected attainment (as measured by standardized tests, assessments, etc.) and actual attainment (as measured by grades and teacher evaluations).

Mainstreamed curricula used in classrooms across the country sometimes failed to motivate students and were not engaging or lacked interesting and challenging experiences (Reis, 2011). No Child Left Behind (NCLB) has brought higher standards

and more accountability into the classroom, but it has also thinned and narrowed the curriculum (Vogler & Virtue, 2007). Often, students who are gifted are not challenged to perform to their full capacity because they seem to be doing just fine. These students may never achieve full potential, because they have not had complex tasks and have never really learned to work (Winebrenner, 2014).

As previously mentioned, educating gifted learners can be a tricky task. To properly engage my students, I had to find the most appropriate instructional level and provide academic and socio-emotional support through zone of proximal development. Through engaging lessons and my constant encouragement, my students seemingly gained confidence and exerted effort to understand the content. By removing a number of barriers, my students were able to develop their higher-order thinking abilities. Through their constant engagement and practicing higher-order learning, we saw an incline in their academic performance in most subject areas, especially math. Thus, further reducing underachievement in this particular subject matter.

Point Two: Higher-order thinking. The National Council of Teachers of Mathematics (Coleman et al., 2017) characterized higher-order thinking as the ability to solve a non-routine problem. Hodgkinson (2007) argued that many gifted students could memorize the conventional algorithms needed to solve problems and even apply them but failed to understand the underlying concepts to think beyond the surface. Some of their struggles stemmed from the lack of opportunities to engage in higher-order thinking activities on a regular basis. A challenge for many educators was to identify appropriate curriculum materials and strategies that challenged students to use higher-order thinking and learn substantial mathematics.

Like all students, gifted learners require learning experiences that are valuable (Gentry, 2018). They require content that they can connect to their lives, activities that force them to process central ideas at a high level, and problems that cause them to mentally wrestle with meaningful problems and present defensible solutions (Tomlinson, 2015). Felton and Koestler (2015) discovered that the math curriculum that was accelerated and provided opportunities for complex mathematical reasoning was advantageous for gifted students. Winebrenner (2003) noted that to provide the necessary rigor, students needed units of instruction and projects that encouraged them to explore math concepts over an extended period.

Tomlinson (2015) argued that it is tough, if not impossible, to cultivate the talent of a gifted student with a lackluster curriculum and instruction. Howson (2016) argued that GT students benefit from learning experiences that are planned by essential concepts and principles of a discipline, such as math, rather than by simple facts. This unit allowed my students to explore place value and various base systems in depth. For many activities, my students used manipulatives, computed answers, justified their answers through writing, and verbalized their reasons when they solved problems. I believe the mandate to justify their answers helped my students become experts in the content matter. I knew that they mastered the content when they were able to compute the answer and explain how they came to that conclusion. Through these activities, the participants demonstrated the ability to use higher-order thinking.

Point Three: Socio-emotional barriers. Since the studies of Hollingworth (1942), researchers have considered issues and problems of gifted children regarding their social-emotional characteristics (Christopher & Shewmaker, 2010). Tsui and

Mazzocco (2007) defined academic anxiety in math as the feeling of tension and anxiety that interferes with the manipulation of numbers and the solving of complex mathematical problems. Often, this factor emerged before, during, and after an assessment (Cassady & Johnson, 2002). Although academic anxiety was typically linked with lower levels of academic achievement (Cassady & Johnson, 2002), some research purported that anxiety had an impact on the academic achievement of gifted learners (Cassady & Johnson, 2002).

Although this study did not seek to find a causal relationship between anxiety and academic performance, it was apparent and was considered in the discussion of the findings. It was interesting to note that curriculum compacting, by design, eliminated content that the students previously mastered. This strategy took the content slightly beyond their comfort level and expertise and could have contributed to their heightened anxiety levels. It was discernible that students' anxiety potentially inhibited their ability to utilize higher-order thinking skills and preferred to remain in their comfort zone. Through dialogue, several of my students claimed to be "perfectionists." These students reported that their desire to be perfect stemmed from their parents, teachers, and classmates. Some students felt an enormous amount of pressure from their families to be perfect in school. Also, my GT students reported that being placed in heterogeneous classrooms caused them to be constantly scrutinized by classmates and teachers. In these classrooms, the students believed if they made a mistake then the others would not think they deserved the GT label. My GT students felt that a lack of support from their teachers contributed to their anxiety. Many of these students believed that they must succeed on their own. However, as an advocate, I know these students need just as much

support as their contemporaries. A major contributor to underachievement was the individual's socio-emotional health. Research indicated that there is a strong relationship between social-emotional development and school performance (Colangelo & Wood, 2015). Christopher and Shewmaker (2015) noted that problems such as low self-esteem and low self-efficacy often resulted in gifted underachievement. Through a deeper understanding of the association between socio-emotional obstacles and underachievement, educators should be able to adequately support the needs of gifted students (McCoach & Siegle, 2003).

Action Plan: Implication of the Findings of the Study

By its cyclical nature, the conclusion of action research is not an ending point for a practitioner; it is often the introduction to another research study. The implementation of curriculum compacting was intended to increase the gifted students' ability to use higher-order thinking to solve complex math problems. It was observed that there was an increase in the students' ability to use higher-order thinking to solve mathematical equations as well as to justify their answers. After analyzing the quantitative data, I desired to create a plan to continue to implement strategies that can improve higher-order thinking skills. Mertler (2014) emphasized that planning time for reflection was vital for teachers and researchers. By utilizing Mertler's method of action planning, I devised a plan to continue the present study and future research beyond my classroom. The plan consists of ongoing reflection following these phases:

- (1) Replicate the study;
- (2) Share the findings with stakeholders;
- (3) Conduct research in various settings;

- (4) Provide professional development for colleagues;
- (5) Share findings in research journals.

In order to continue the study and implementation of curricula modifications with gifted students, I plan to replicate this study with a different Project M³'s unit of study. Project M³ has several mathematical units that address different mathematical concepts. Next, I plan to share the findings of the current study with stakeholders within the district. Through a presentation for my colleagues, administrators, and parents, I will define the purpose of the study, its method, and conclusions. Also, I plan to organize and share any feedback received from the participants during the presentation. A document for the stakeholders and parents will be provided and include graphic depictions along with the narrative of the results. I plan to request that the stakeholders and parents share all suggestions they may have in regard in increasing engagement and academic attainment for gifted students. I desire to cooperate with my colleagues to apply new ideas and strategies which could improve the implementation of curriculum compacting.

The next phase of my action research plan is to conduct another study using multiple groups of participants. I want to strengthen my results by implementing a controlled experiment, with one group receiving curriculum compacting strategies and another group that does not. I believe that this will provide stronger evidence on whether curriculum compacting has an impact on higher-order thinking and academic growth. Also, I desire to examine the impact of curriculum compacting on students that are not gifted identified. In doing so, I believe I will be able to better answer the research question: What are the effects of curriculum compacting on students' ability to use higher-order thinking to solve complex math problems? Again, the findings of these

studies will be shared with others within and outside the GT field in order to gain additional perspectives and to strengthen the concerted efforts between general education and gifted teachers.

The fourth phase of this action plan will focus on my colleagues. I am constantly asked by general education teachers to help them effectively reach the gifted learners in their classes. It would be beneficial for all the general education teachers to learn effective strategies to meet the needs of all learners, especially their gifted students. Also, through the professional development sessions, I will conduct additional research with various types of students. Finally, after several iterations of the study occur, and statistical confidence levels between multiple iterations are ascertained, I will proceed to the presentation and publication stage of this study. The gifted and talented organization, National Association for Gifted Children (NAGC), meets every year and welcomed the proposal for presentations. Other sources for publication may be *The Gifted Child Today*, *Gifted Child Quarterly*, and *Teaching Children Mathematics*. The intention was to replicate this study with different age groups and in different subject areas. Replicating research can increase rigor and reliability.

Going forward, I plan to show the positive effects of curriculum compacting to the school principal and other third-grade teachers within the school district. Often, these teachers do not feel equipped with the proper curricula nor techniques suited for gifted students in their heterogeneous classes. The teachers will take part in professional development sessions to learn how to implement curriculum compacting into their classrooms.

Additionally, the socio-emotional development of gifted students was a critical point of emphasis. When anxiety interferes with the risk-taking that quality learning demands, it can keep a gifted student from achieving his or her full potential. I concluded that removing the emotional barriers could help gifted students excel in all settings. A possible strategy could be for educators of gifted learner implement the *Habits of Mind* (Costa & Kallick, 2008) curriculum to teach students how to deal with challenging academic and real-life situations. The *Habits of Mind* curriculum is a program that teaches students how to overcome adversity in and outside of the classroom (Costa & Kallick, 2008). The theoretical underpinning of the Habits of Mind is based on the framework mainly developed by Arthur Costa and Bena Kallick, and subsequently through the work of Robert Marzano (1992) with this creation of Dimension of Learning (Campbell, 2006). By its very nature, the HoM framework focuses attention on the processes and strategies that students' minds need to engage with for effective learning to occur. More information on the *Habits of Mind* will be shared in the following section.

Limitations of Current Study and Suggestions for Future Research

This present study was restricted by limited research, a small sample size, grade level, time constraints, academic designation (GT), and research design methodology. Future research is needed to find ways teachers can increase students' ability to engage in higher-order thinking in math, as well as other subjects, to maximize students' academic growth. As mentioned in Chapter One, acceleration, enrichment, and counseling were the primary strategies used with gifted learners. However, it was unclear which practices and conditions were most beneficial for gifted learners. Beyond these strategies,

curricula for gifted learners remained inadequate, especially regarding mathematics (Hodgkinson, 2007).

Research Recommendation One: Identify effective strategies for gifted learners

Curriculum compacting is just one strategy that has shown to be effective for gifted students. It provides a setting that is stimulating and addresses the intellectual, physical, and socio-emotional needs of gifted children. It allows the students to advance quickly through the required curriculum content and move to more challenging content. This strategy provides academic rigor within the curriculum. Next, it is important to implement the multi-tiered and multi-faceted curriculum. By differentiating the curriculum, educators can address disparities in the depth and pace of learning. This allows students of all abilities to master a specific subject by generating projects at their ability level. Also, educators need to be flexible with the curriculum. With GT students, it is imperative to take advantage of real-life experiences that can be deciphered into problem-solving lessons.

Furthermore, educators must allow gifted children to take ownership of their learning by accelerating the curriculum. We must teach them to push beyond their ability levels and learn to request assistance when necessary. By helping GT students understand the worth of attaining knowledge in their lives, we inspire them to learn for its own sake, rather than emphasizing test scores as the ultimate accomplishment. Finally, we must be mindful that gifted children are very similar to their peers in heterogeneous classrooms. We must offer a favorable environment for them to grow and learn daily.

Research Recommendation Two: Implement a Socio-Emotional Curriculum

Costa and Kallick (2008) define a problem as any stimulus, question, task, phenomenon, or inconsistency; the explanation for which is not instantly identified. Costa and Kallick further emphasized that intelligent behaviors are performed in response to such questions and problems. The *Habits of Mind* are an identified set of 16 problem solving, life-related skills needed to effectively function in society while encouraging tactical reasoning, depth of learning, persistence, and creativity (Costa & Kallick, 2008). The focus on the processes of the mind is not a new phenomenon. The great philosophers such as Socrates, Plato, and Aristotle produced similar theories. The 16 habits are: persisting; thinking and communicating with clarity and precision; managing impulsivity; gathering data through all senses; listening with understanding and empathy; creating, imagining, innovating; thinking flexibly; responding with wonderment and awe; thinking about thinking (metacognition); taking responsible risks; striving for accuracy; finding humor; questioning and posing problems; thinking interdependently; applying past knowledge to new situations; and remaining open to continuous learning.

Costa and Kallick (2008a) argued that when teaching the habits of mind, educators must be concerned with how many answers students know but more importantly how students act when they do not know an answer. Hordvik, MacPhail, and Ronglan (2017) emphasized that educators must be observant in how students construct knowledge rather than how they merely replicate it. A significant feature of intelligent beings is obtaining information as well as knowing how to use it (Costa & Kallick, 2000). I desired to challenge and motivate my GT students to maximize their potential with curriculum compacting, but at the same time, I wanted to teach them how to cope with

challenges with a more aggressive and unfamiliar teaching strategy. The Habits of Mind suited this purpose.

Research Recommendation Three: Increase Sample Size and Diversity

A significant limitation of the present study was the small sample and the lack of diversity in ability level among the participants. There were only twelve participants in the study. All of the students were in the third grade and labeled gifted and talented. Research shows that GT students are more likely to grasp a concept than the average student (Gentry, 2016). To fully see the impact of curriculum compacting, future research should consider using curriculum compacting with students with various academic abilities and multiple grade levels. Currently, a 1st-grade teacher in a Title One school with ninety-eight percent African American population desires to use this curriculum and the compacting strategy as an intervention with her general education students. The results of her study will be of great interests to me.

Research Recommendation Four: Mixed-methods design methods

Doyle, Brady, and Byrne (2009) emphasized that quantitative and qualitative research have weaknesses. McKim (2017) noted that quantitative research was weak in recognizing the context or setting in which data were collected. McKim further noted that qualitative research might contain biases and did not lend itself to statistical analysis and generalization. Mixed method strategies can offset these weaknesses by permitting discovery and analysis within the same study (Doyle, Brady, & Byrne, 2009). The present quantitative study found that curriculum compacting had a positive impact on students' ability to use higher-order thinking to improve academic growth. However, I believe a study would have more validity and reliability with the use of a mixed-methods

study the could observe the direct impact of the socio-emotional component on the students' academic attainment. Also, the study was implemented over a nine-week period. Future studies could be conducted over an entire academic school year. I felt limited and rushed to get through every item before my window closed. I believe this expanded time frame would help researchers determine if the consistent use of curriculum compacting influences students' ability to use higher-order thinking.

Conclusion

The current action research study intended to identify if a curriculum compacting intervention would be beneficial to help gifted students develop their higher-order thinking skills. Higher-order thinking skills provide a pathway to help individuals learn how to problem solve, especially in mathematics. The findings of this study indicated that the gifted, third-grade math students did benefit from curriculum compacting by increasing their ability to solve complex problems and justify their answers. Through their actions, the learners became mathematicians rather than math students. Analysis of the data showed curriculum compacting could have a positive impact on all students, not just for gifted learners. This action research study has allowed the investigator the opportunity to observe the positive effects of curriculum compacting and affirms the need to apply this method in my classroom as well as to share it with other educators for the upcoming school year.

After the intervention and the analysis, I reflected on the entire process and considered ways to improve the intervention and the assessment process. Stakeholder insights were an essential aspect of this part of the study. Parents and other school personnel were invited to observe the intervention and were asked to provide an outside

look into the process. To gather information, I collected stakeholder input with a survey and in a focus group session to discuss and critique the intervention as they observed. At that time, I gathered all data and observational notes to be further used in this reflection and re-developing stages of the study. Beyond the scope of the dissertation, replication studies will be put in place. Student population changes and curricular topics change, both of which yield unknown variables influencing the success of the initial intervention. Appropriate adaptations will be made.

Based on the research, the field of gifted education is constantly evolving. The perceptions of intelligence, and even giftedness, have transformed. Our perceptions of the delivery method for serving the gifted have transformed. Our population focus has also transformed. This transference offers a quandary but it also dares us to mature and advance as a field. Currently, more than ever, practitioners in the gifted field must seriously understand the need to collaborate with each other, school administrators, content specialist, and regular classroom teachers in new configurations that ensure the unique needs of gifted learners are appropriately met (VanTassel-Baska, 2018). If the gifted field aims to be meaningful for the students it serves, curriculum planners must be aware of the significance of sustaining a balanced viewpoint toward important issues.

Despite the variety of frameworks for the education of gifted math students, there is a lack of empirical data about this population. It is essential to conduct methodical, empirical studies on some curricula to gain a better understanding of their effectiveness and appropriateness for the fulfillment of the gifted students' mathematical potential. As educators, we need analytical reports of applicable strategies and programs for mathematically gifted students to help them reach their potential.

REFERENCES

Abdullah, A. P., Mokhtar, M., Halim, N. A., Ali, D.F., Tahir, L. M., & Kohar, U. A. (2017). Mathematics teachers' level of knowledge and practice on the implementation of higher-order thinking skills (HOTS). *Eurasia Journal of Mathematics, Science & Technology Education*, 13(1), 3-17. doi:10.12973/eurasia.2017.00601a

Abramo, J. M. (2015). Gifted students with disabilities: "Twice exceptionality" in the music classroom. *Music Educators Journal*, 101(4), 62-69. doi:10.1177/0027432115571367

- Adelson, J. L., McCoach, D. B., & Gavin, M. K. (2012). Examining the effects of gifted programming in mathematics and reading using the ECLS-K. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 56(1), 25-39.
- Akinsola, E. F., & Nwajei, A. D. (2013). Test anxiety, depression and academic performance: assessment and management using relaxation and cognitive restructuring techniques. *Psychology*, 4(06), 18.
- Allen, J. J., Robbins, M. A., Payne, Y. D., & Brown, K. B. (2016). Using enrichment clusters to address the needs of culturally and linguistically diverse learners. *Gifted Child Today*, 39(2), 84-97. doi:10.1177/1076217516628568
- Almalki, S. (2016). Integrating quantitative and qualitative data in mixed method
 research—challenges and benefits. *Journal of Education and Learning*, 5(3), 288-296.

- Altintas, E, & Ozdemir, A.S. (2015). The effect of developed differentiation approach on the achievements of the students. *Eurasian Journal of Educational Research*, *61*, 199-216.
- Anderson, J. (1990). Cognitive psychology and its implications. New York: W.H.
 Freeman.Anderson, L. W., Krathwohl, D. R., & Bloom, B. S. (2001). A taxonomy for learning, teaching, and assessing: A revision of Bloom's taxonomy of educational objectives. Allyn & Bacon.
- Appleman, M. A. (1972). Math readiness and related considerations. *Educational Research and Development Council*. Twin Cities, MN: Educational R&D Council.
- Atnafu, M. (2012). Motivation, Social Support, Alienation from the School and their Impact on Students' Achievement in Mathematics: The Case of Tenth Grade Students. *Ethiopian Journal of Education and Sciences*, 8(1), 53-74.
- Au, W. (2007). High-stakes testing and curricular control: A qualitative metasynthesis. *Educational Researcher*, 36(5), 258-267.
- Auld, C., Brown, J., Duffy, M., Falter, N., Hammond, T., Jensen, D., ... & Ward, N.
 (2000). *Promising curriculum and instructional practices for high-ability learners' manual*. Lincoln, NE: Nebraska Department of Education.
- Bailey, L. (1992). Compacting curriculum through pretesting. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 24(3), 55.
- Bandura, A. (1993). Perceived self-efficacy in cognitive development and functioning. *Educational Psychologist*, 28(2), 117-148.

- Barrouillet, P. P. (2015). Theories of cognitive development: From Piaget to today. *Developmental Review*, (38)1-12. doi:10.1016/j.dr.2015.07.004
- Baum, S. M., Schader, R. M., & Hébert, T. P. (2014). Through a different lens:
 Reflecting on a strengths-based, talent-focused approach for twice-exceptional learners. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 58(4), 311-327.
- Beckmann, N., Beckmann, J. F., & Elliott, J. G. (2009). Self-confidence and performance goal orientation interactively predict performance in a reasoning test with accuracy feedback. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 19(2), 277-282.
- Benbow, C. P. (1992, March/April). Progress in gifted education -- Everywhere but here. *The Gifted Child Today*, 15(2), 2-8.
- Bennett-Rappell, H., & Northcote, M. T. (2016). Underachieving gifted students: Two case studies. *Issues in Educational Research*, 26 (3), 407-430.
- Berry, E. D. J., Waterman, A. H., Baddeley, A. D., Hitch, G. J., & Allen, R. J. (2018).
 The limits of visual working memory in children: Exploring prioritization and recency effects with sequential presentation. *Developmental Psychology*, 54(2), 240-253. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/dev0000427
- Bernstein, H. T. (1985). The new politics of textbook adoption. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 66 (7), 463-466.
- Biddick, M. (2009). Cluster grouping for the gifted and talented: It works! *APEX*, *15*(4), 78-86.
- Blaas, S. (2014). The relationship between social-emotional difficulties and underachievement of gifted students. *Journal of Psychologists and Counselors in Schools*, 24(2), 243-255.

- Bloom, B. S. (1956). Taxonomy of educational objectives. Handbook I: The cognitive domain. New York, NY: David McKay.
- Bloom, B. S., Engelhart, M. D., Furst, E. J., Hill, W. H., & Krathwohl, D. R. (1956).
 Taxonomy of educational objectives: The classification of educational goals. Handbook I: Cognitive domain. New York, NY: David McKay.
- Borland, J. H. (1989). *Planning and implementing programs for the gifted*. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Bradshaw, S. (2015). Engendering development and disasters. *Disasters*, 39(1), 54-75.
- Brighton, C. & Moon, T. Action research step-by-step: A tool for educators to change their worlds. *Gifted Child Today*, *30*(2), 23-27.
- Broughman, S. P., Swaim, N. L., & Hryczaniuk, C. A. (2013). Characteristics of private schools in the United States: Results from the 2011–12 Private School Universe Survey. First look. NCES 2013-316. *National Center for Education Statistics*.
- Brown, H. (2017, January 24). Gifted learners need chance to be creative, scholarly. Retrieved January 25, 2017, from http://www.mrt.com/news/education/article/Gifted-learners-need-chance-to-

be-creative-10878040.php

- Brulles, D., Saunders, R., & Cohn, S. J. (2010). Improving performance for gifted students in a cluster grouping model. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 34(2), 327-350.
- Brulles, D., & Winebrenner, S. (2012). Clustered for success. *Educational Leadership*, 69(5), 41-45.

Burns, M., & Silbey, R. (2000). So you have to teach math: Sound advice for K-6 teachers. Sausalito, CA: Math Solutions Publications.

Bush, G.W. (2001). No child left behind act. H.R.1. United States Department of Education. Retrieved from http://www2.ed.gov/policy/elsec/leg/esea02/index.html

- Campbell, J. (2006). Theorising habits of mind as a framework for learning. *Computer and Mathematics Science*, *6*, 102-109.
- Cassady, J. C., & Johnson, R. E. (2002). Cognitive test anxiety and academic performance. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *27*(2), 270-295.
- Chall, J. L., & Conrad, S. S. (1991). Text content must match reader. *Epiegram*, 18(2),1.
- Charlesworth, R., & Lind, K. K. (2003). *Math and science for children* (4thed.). Albany, NY: Delmar.
- Christopher, M. M., & Shewmaker, J. (2010). The relationship of perfectionism to affective variables in gifted and highly able children. *Gifted Child Today*, *33*(3), 20-30.
- Clark, H. H., & Clark, E. V. (1977). Psychology and language: An introduction to psycholinguistics. *Time Higher Education Supplement*, *3*(1), 814.
- Clark, D. A., Crandal, J. R., & D. Robinson (2018). Incentives and test anxiety may moderate the effect of retrieval on learning. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 63, 70-77.
- Cochran-Smith, M., Barnatt, J., Friedman, A., & Pine, G. (2009). Inquiry on inquiry: Practitioner research and student learning. *Action in Teacher Education*, *31*(2), 17-32.

- Cohen, C. S. (1997). The effectiveness of peer coaching on classroom teachers' use of differentiation for gifted middle school students. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). University of Connecticut: Mansfield, CT.
- Colangelo, N., Assouline, S. G., Gross, M. M., & Iowa University, C. D. (2004). A Nation Deceived: How schools hold back America's brightest students. The Templeton National Report on Acceleration (vol. 2). Iowa City, IA: Connie Belin & Jacqueline N. Blank International Center for Gifted Education and Talent Development.
- Colangelo, N., & Assouline, S. (2009). Acceleration: Meeting the academic and social needs of students. In T. Balchin, B. Hymer, & D.J. Matthews (Eds). *The Routledge international companion to gifted education* (pp.194-202). London and New York: Routledge.
- Colangelo, N., Assouline, S. G., VanTassel-Baska, J., & Lupkowski-Shoplik, A. (2015).
 A Nation Empowered: Evidence trumps the excuses holding back America's brightest students. Iowa City, IA: Connie Belin and Jacqueline N. Blank International Center for Gifted Education and Talent Development.
- Colangelo, N., & Davis, G. A. (2003). Introduction and overview. In N. Colangelo & G.A. Davis (Eds.), *Handbook of gifted education* (3-9). Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Colangelo, N., & Wood, S. M. (2015). Counseling the gifted: past, present, and future directions. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 93(2), 133-142.
 doi:10.1002/j.1556-6676.2015.00189.x
- Coleman, L. J., & Cross, T. L. (2001). *Being gifted in school: An introduction to development, guidance, and teaching.* Waco, TX: Prufrock Press.
- Coleman, S. T., Bruce, A. W., White, L. J., Boykin, A. W., & Tyler, K. (2017).
 Communal and individual learning contexts as they relate to mathematics achievement under simulated classroom conditions. *Journal of Black Psychology*, *43*(6), 543-564.
- Colley, C., & Windschitl, M. (2016). Rigor in elementary science students' discourse: The role of responsiveness and supportive conditions for talk. *Science Education*, 100(6), 1009-1038.
- Costa, A. L., & Kallick, B. (2000). *Habits of mind: Activating & engaging*. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Costa, A. L., & Kallick, B. (Eds.). (2008a). Learning and leading with habits of mind: 16 essential characteristics for success. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Costa, A. L., & Kallick, B. (2008b). Learning through reflection. *Learning and leading* with habits of mind, 16, 221-235.
- Creswell, J. W. (2002). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating

quantitative. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.

Creswell, J. W., Plano Clark, V. L., Gutmann, M., & Hanson, W. (2003). Advanced mixed methods research designs. In A. Tashakkori & C. Teddlie (Eds.),

Handbook of mixed methods in social and behavioral research (209–240). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Crowl, T. K., Kaminsky, S., & Podell, D. M. (1997). *Educational psychology: Windows* on teaching. McGraw-Hill College.
- Dai, D. Yol. (2013). Excellence at the cost of social justice? Negotiating and balancing priorities in gifted education. *Roeper Review*, 35(2), 93-101.
 doi:10.1080/02783193.2013.766961
- Dana, N. F., & Yendol-Hoppey, D. (2014). The reflective educator's guide to classroom research: Learning to teach and teaching to learn through practitioner inquiry.
 Corwin Press. Thousand Oaks, CA.
- Darling-Hammond, L. (1990). Achieving our goals: Superficial or structural reforms. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 72, 286-295.
- Darling-Hammond, L. (2006). Constructing 21st-Century teacher education. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 57, 300-314. doi:10.1177/1476750306070103
- Davey, G. C. (1994). Defining the important theoretical questions to ask about evaluative conditioning: A reply to Martin and Levey (1994). *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 32(3), 307-310.
- De Boer, G. C., Minnaert, A. E., & Kamphof, G. (2013). Gifted education in the Netherlands. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, *36*(1), 133-150.
- Dewey, J. (1938). *Experience and education*. New York: Macmillan.
- Dixon, F. A. (1996). Using a dialectical approach to improve critical thinking in secondary classrooms. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). West Lafayette, In: Purdue University.

- Dixon, F. A., Prater, K. A., Vine, H. M., Wark, M. J., Williams, T., Hanchon, T., &
 Shobe, C. (2004). Teaching to their thinking: A strategy to meet the critical thinking needs of gifted students. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 28(1), 56-76.
- Doyle, L., Brady, A. M., & Byrne, G. (2009). An overview of mixed methods research. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, *14*(2), 175-185.
- Dreger, R. M., & Aiken Jr, L. R. (1957). The identification of number anxiety in a college population. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *48*(6), 344.
- Dreyden, J. I., & Gallagher, S. A. (1989). The effects of time and direction changes on the SAT performance of academically talented adolescents. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 12(3), 187-204.
- Dweck, C. S. (2000). Self-theories: Their role in motivation, personality, and development. Psychology Press. New York, NY.
- Eber, P. A., & Parker, T. S. (2007). Assessing Student Learning: Applying Bloom's Taxonomy. *Human Service Education*, 27(1).
- Eden, C., & Ackermann, F. (2018). Theory into Practice, Practice to Theory: Action Research in Method Development. *European Journal of Operational Research*.
- Eisner, E. W. (1988). The celebration of thinking. *National Forum: Phi Kappa Phi Journal*, 68, 30-33.
- Eisner, E. W. (2004). What does it mean to say a school is doing well? *The Curriculum Studies Reader*, *2*, 297-305.
- Ennis, R. H. (1981). Eight fallacies in Bloom's taxonomy. *Philosophy of Education*. Bloomington, IN: Philosophy of Education Society.

- Faulkner, V. N. (2009). The components of number sense: An instructional model for teachers. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 41(5), 24.
- Feldhusen, J. F. (1989). Why the public schools will continue to neglect the gifted? *Gifted Child Today*, 67(13) 55-59.
- Felton, M. D., & Koestler, C. (2015). "Math is all around us and... We can use it to help us": teacher agency in mathematics education through critical reflection. *The New Educator*, 11(4), 260-276.
- Fiedler, E. D., Lange, R.E., & Winebrenner, S. (2002). In search of reality: Unraveling the myths about tracking, ability grouping, and the gifted. *Roeper Review*, 24(3), 108-111.
- Fisher, D. D., & Frey, N. N. (2014). Scaffolded reading instruction of content-area texts. *Reading Teacher*, 67(5), 347-351. doi:10.1002/trtr.1234
- Fisher, C. W., & Berliner, D. C. (1979). Clinical inquiry in research on classroom teaching and learning. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 30(6), 42-48.
- Flanders, J. R. (1987). How much of the content in mathematics textbooks is new? *Arithmetic Teacher*, *35*,18-23.
- Flinders, D. J. & Thornton, S. J., (2013). *The curriculum studies reader* (4th ed.). New York, NY: Routledge.

Ford, D. Y. (2010). Reversing underachievement among gifted Black students

(2nd ed.). Waco, TX: Prufrock Press.

Ford, D. Y., Grantham, T. C., & Whiting, G. W. (2008). Culturally and linguistically diverse students in gifted education: Recruitment and retention issues. *Exceptional Children*, 74(3), 289-306.

- Ford, D. D., & King Jr., R. A. (2014). Blacked Out: Racial and gender segregation in gifted education 60 years after Brown vs. Board of Education. *Multiple Voices for Ethnically Diverse Exceptional Learners*, 14(2), 3-11.
- Ford, D. Y., Russo, C. J., & Russo, J. J. H. (1993). The quest for equity in gifted education. *Gifted Child Today*, 16(6), 8-11.
- Fraenkel, J. R., Wallen, N. E., & Hyun, H. H. (2015). *How to design and evaluate research in education* (vol. 9). New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Frost, R. O., Steketee, G., Williams, L. F., & Warren, R. (2000). Mood, personality disorder symptoms and disability in obsessive compulsive hoarders: A comparison with clinical and nonclinical controls. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 38(11), 1071-1081.
- Gallagher, J. (2003). Issues and challenges in the education of gifted students. In N.Colangelo & G. A. Davis (eds.), *Handbook of gifted education* (11-23). Boston,MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Gallagher, J. J. (2004). No child left behind and gifted education. *Roeper Review*, 26(3), 121-123.
- Gallagher, J. J. (2015). Political issues in gifted education. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, *38*(1), 77-89.
- Gallagher, J. J, Harradine, C. C., & Coleman, M. R. (1997). Challenge or boredom? Gifted students' views on their schooling. *Roeper Review*, *19*(3), 132-136.
- Gamson, D. A., Lu, X., & Eckert, S. A. (2013). Challenging the research base of the common core state standards: A historical reanalysis of text complexity. *Educational Researcher*, 42(7), 381-391.

- Gavin, M. K., Casa, T. M., Adelson, J. L., Carroll, S. R., Sheffield, L. J., & Spinelli,
 A. M. (2007). Project M³: Mentoring mathematical minds—A research-based curriculum for talented elementary students. *Journal of Advanced Academics*, *18*(4), 566-585.
- Gavin, M. K., Chapin, S., Dailey, J., & Sheffield, L. (2006). Unraveling the mystery of *the MoLi Stone: Place value and numeration*. Dubuque, IA: Kendall Hunt.
- Gay, L. R., Mills, G. E., & Airasian, P. W. (2011). Educational research: Competencies for analysis and applications. Pearson Higher Ed.
- Gentry, M. L., & National Research Center on the Gifted and Talented, S. C.
 (1999). Promoting Student Achievement and Exemplary Classroom Practices through Cluster Grouping: A Research-Based Alternative to Heterogeneous Elementary Classrooms. Retrieved from https://login.pallas2.tcl.sc.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx

?direct=true&db=eric&AN=ED429389&site=ehost-live

- Gentry, M. (2006). No child left behind: Neglecting excellence. *Roeper Review*, 29(1), 24-27.
- Gentry, M. (2016). Commentary on "Does sorting students improve scores? An analysis of class composition". *Journal of Advanced Academics*, 27(2), 124-130. doi:10.1177/1932202X16636174
- Gentry, M., & MacDougall, J. (2008). Total school cluster grouping: Model, research, and practice. *Systems and Models for Developing Programs for the Gifted and Talented*, 211-234.

- Golden, D. (2004). Initiative to leave no child behind leaves out gifted: Educators divert resources from classes for smartest to focus on basic literacy. *The Wall Street Journal*, 1.
- Gonzalez, P., Guzman, J. C., Partelow, L., Pahlke, E., Jocelyn, L., Kastberg, D., &
 Williams, T. (2004). *Highlights from the trends in international mathematics and science study (TIMSS) 2003* (NCES Report No. 2005-005). Washington, DC: US Government Printing.
- Good, T. L., & Brophy, J. E. (1987). Looking in classrooms. Harper & Row.
- Goodlad, J. I. (1984). A place called school. Prospects for the future. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill Book Company.
- Goree. K. (1996). Making the most out of inclusive setting. *Gifted Child Today*, 19(2), 22-42.
- Grant, S. G. (2006). *Measuring history: Cases of state-level testing across the United States*. Greenwich, CT: Information Age.
- Greenspon, T. S. (2000). Healthy perfectionism in an oxymoron! *Journal of* Secondary Gifted Education,11, 197–209.
- Grensing-Pophal, L. (2017). National association of elementary school principals:
 Serving all elementary and middle-level principals. Retrieved January 23,
 2017, from https://www.naesp.org/principal-januaryfebruary-2017-equity-access-diverse-learners/who-gifted
- Grgich, G. (2009). Gifted students in the No Child Left Behind era: Are their needs being addressed. *California Reader*, *42*(2), 16-23.

- Grinder, R. E., & Nelsen, E. A. (1985). Individualized instruction in American pedagogy: The saga of an educational ideology and a practice in the making. *Adapting Instruction to Individual Differences*, 24-43.
- Hake, R. R. (1998). Interactive-engagement versus traditional methods: A six-thousandstudent survey of mechanics test data for introductory physics courses. *American journal of Physics*, 66(1), 64-74.
- Halpern, D. F. (1998). Teaching critical thinking for transfer across domains.Dispositions, skills, structure training, and metacognitive monitoring. *American Psychologist*, *53*, 449–455.
- Hamachek, D. E. (1978). Psychodynamics of normal and neurotic perfectionism. *Psychology: A Journal of Human Behavior*, 15(1), 27-33
- Hancock, D. R. (2001). Effects of test anxiety and evaluative threat on students' achievement and motivation. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 94(5), 284-290.
- Haynes, A., Lisic, E., Goltz, M., Stein, B., & Harris, K. (2016). Moving beyond assessment to improving students' critical thinking skills: A Model for implementing change. *Journal of the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning*, *16*(4), 44-61.
- Henriksen, D., Good, J., & Mishra, P. P. (2015). Embodied thinking as a transdisciplinary Habits of Mind. *Techtrends: Linking Research & Practice to Improve Learning*, 59(1), 6-11. doi:10.1007/s11528-014-0812-z
- Herr, K., & Anderson, G. L. (2005). The action research dissertation: A guide to faculty and students. Sage Publications, 2005.

- Herr, O. E., Castro, C., & Canty, M. (2012). Striving for excellence: Resilience among gifted students from different cultural, linguistic, and low socio-economic backgrounds. *Review of Higher Education & Self-Learning*, 5(16), 1-15.
- Hiebert, E. H. (2011). The common core's staircase of text complexity: Getting the size of the first step right. *Reading Today*, 29(3), 26-27.

Hiebert, E. H., & Mesmer, H. E. (2013). Upping the ante of text complexity in the Common Core State Standards: Examining its potential impact on young readers. *Educational Researcher*, 42(1), 44-51.

doi:10.3102/0013189X12459802

- Hodgkinson, H. (2007). Leaving too many children behind. In J. VanTassel-Baska & T.
 Stambaugh (Eds.), *Overlooked gems: A national perspective on low-income* promising learners. Washington, DC: National Association for Gifted Children.
- Hollingworth, L. S. (1942). Measurement and adjustment series. Children above 180 *IQ Stanford-Binet: Origin and development*. Yonkers-on-Hudson, NY, US:
 World Book Company.
- Holter, I. M., & Schwartz Barcott, D. (1993). Action research: What is it? How has it been used and how can it be used in nursing? *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *18*(2), 298-304.
- Hordvik, M. M., MacPhail, A., & Ronglan, L. T. (2017). Teaching and learning sport education: A self-study exploring the experiences of a teacher educator and pre-service teachers. *Journal of Teaching in Physical Education*, *36*(2), 232-243.

- Howson, G. (2016). Some thoughts on educating more able students. *Journal of Mathematics Education at Teachers College*, 7(1), 1-5.
- Huling, L. (1981). The effects on teachers of participation in an interactive research and development project. (Unpublished dissertation). Lubbock,TX: Texas Tech University.
- Jackson, P. S. (1998). Bright star—black sky a phenomenological study of depression as a window into the psyche of the gifted adolescent. *Roeper Review*, 20(3), 215-221.
- Johnson, A. (2001). How to use thinking skills to differentiate curricula for gifted and highly creative students. *Gifted Child Today*, 24(4), 58-63.

Johnson, A. P. (2008). A short guide to action research. Boston, MA: Pearson.

- Johnson, D, T. (2003). Adapting mathematics curricula for high-ability learners. In J. Vantassel Baska & C. A. Little (eds.), *Content-based curriculum for high ability learners* (161-190). Washington, DC: Prufrock Press.
- Jones, A., Olds, A., & Lisciandro, J. (2016). Understanding the Learner: Effective course design in the changing higher education space. *International Studies in Widening Participation*, 3(1), 19-35.
- Jones, V. R. (2014). Habits of mind: developing problem-solving strategies for all learners. *Children's Technology & Engineering*, 19(2), 24-26.
- Kaplan, S. N. (1979). Inservice training manual: Activities for developing curriculum for the gifted and talented. Ventura, CA: Office of the Ventura County
 Superintendent of Schools.

- Kaplan, S. N. (2004). Where we stand determines the answers to the question: Can the no child left behind legislation be beneficial to gifted students? *Roeper Review*, 26(3), 124-125.
- Karpicke, J. D., Butler, A. C., & Roediger III, H. L. (2009). Metacognitive strategies in student learning: do students practice retrieval when they study on their own?. *Memory*, 17(4), 471-479.
- Keiley, M. K. (2002). Attachment and affect regulation: A framework for family treatment of conduct disorder. *Family Process*, *41*(3), 477-493.
- Kemmis, S. and McTaggart, R. (1988) *The action research planner*. Victoria, Australia: Deakin University.
- Kemmis, S., & McTaggart, R. (2005). Participatory action research: Communicative action and the public sphere. Sage Publications Ltd.
- Kennedy, D. M. (1995). Teaching the gifted in regular classrooms: Plain talk about creating a gifted-friendly classroom. *Roeper Review*, *17*(4), 232-234
- Kenney, J. (2013). Fostering critical thinking skills: Strategies for use with intermediate gifted readers. *Illinois Reading Council Journal*, *41*(2), 28-39.
- King, F. J., Goodson, L., & Rohani, F. (2010). Higher-order thinking skills: Definition, teaching strategies, assessment. *Publication of the Educational Services Program, now known as the Center for Advancement of Learning and Assessment.*
- Kirova, A., Massing, C., Prochner, L., & Cleghorn, A. (2016). Shaping the 'habits of mind' of diverse learners in early childhood teacher education programs through

PowerPoint: An illustrative case. Journal of Pedagogy, 7(1), 59-78.

doi:10.1515/jped-2016-0004

- Kirschenbaum, R J. (1995). An interview with Dr. Joseph Renzulli and Dr. Sally Reis. *Gifted Child Today*, 18(4) 18-21, 24-25.
- Kloosterman, P. (2010). Mathematics skills of 17-year-olds in the United States: 1978 to 2004. *Journal for Research in Mathematics Eduation*, *41*(1), 20-51.

Kohn, A. (1998). Only for my kid. Phi Delta Kappan, 79(8), 568-578.

- Kohoutek, J. (2013). Three decades of implementation research in higher education:
 limitations and prospects of theory development. *Higher Education Quarterly*, 67(1), 56-79. doi:10.1111/j.1468-2273.2012.00531.x
- Koksal, M. S. (2014). Investigation of higher-order correlates of gifted students' motivation towards science learning. *Education Sciences & Psychology*, 32(6), 18-26.
- Krathwohl, D. R. (1974). An analysis of the perceived ineffectiveness of educational research and some recommendations. *Educational Psychologist*, *11*(2), 73-86.
- Krathwohl, D. R. (2002). A revision of Bloom's taxonomy: An overview. *Theory into Practice*, *41*, 212-264. doi:10.1207/s15430421tip4104_2
- Lambert, M. (2010, March). 'Gifted and talented': A label too far? *Forum* (symposium journal), *52*(1), 99-106).
- Landis, R. N., & Reschly, A. L. (2013). Reexamining gifted underachievement and dropout through the lens of student engagement. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 36(2), 220-249.

- Lewin, K. (1946). Action research and minority problems. *Journal of Social Issues*, 2(4), 34-46.
- Lewis, A., & Smith, D. (1993). Defining higher-order thinking. *Theory into practice*, *32*(3), 131–137.
- Lefkowits, L., & Miller, K. (2006). Fulfilling the promise of the standards movement. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 87(5), 403.
- Little, J., & Anderson, J. (2016). What factors support or inhibit secondary mathematics pre-service teachers' implementation of problemsolving tasks during professional experience?. *Asia-Pacific Journal* of Teacher Education, 44(5), 504-521.
- MacCabe, J. H., Lambe, M. P., Cnattingius, S., Sham, P. C., David, A. S.,
 Reichenberg, A., ... & Hultman, C. M. (2010). Excellent school
 performance at age 16 and risk of adult bipolar disorder: national
 cohort study. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *196*(2), 109-115.
- Madsen, A., McKagan, S. B., & Sayre, E. C. (2017). Best practices for administering concept inventories. *The Physics Teacher*, 55(9), 530-536.
- Manning, S. (2006). Recognizing gifted students: A practical guide for teachers. *Kappa Delta Pi record*, *42*(2), 64-68.
- Marzano, R. J. (1993). How classroom teachers approach the teaching of thinking. *Theory into Practice*, 32(3), 154-160.
- McCollister, K., & Sayler, M. F. (2010). Lift the ceiling: Increase rigor with critical thinking skills. *Gifted Child Today*, *33*(1), 41-47.

- McDavitt, D. S. (1993). Teaching for understanding: Attaining higher-order learning and increased achievement through experiential instruction. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 374 093)
- McDonald, A. S. (2001). The prevalence and effects of test anxiety in school children. *Educational psychology*, *21*(1), 89-101.

McGuire, P. M., & Kinzie, M. K. (2013). Analysis of place value instruction and development in pre-kindergarten mathematics. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 41(5), 355-364. doi:10.1007/s10643-013-0580-y

- McKeachie, W., Pintrich, P., Lin, Y., & Smith, D. (1986). Teaching and learning in the college classroom: A review of the research literature. Ann Arbor, MI: National Center to Improve Postsecondary Teaching and Learning.
- McKernan, J., & McKernan, J. (2013). Curriculum action research: A handbook of methods and resources for the reflective practitioner. Routledge.
- McKim, C. A. (2017). The value of mixed methods research: A mixed methods study. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, *11*(2), 202-222.
- Meier, D., & Wood, G. (Eds.). (2004). *Many children left behind*. Boston: Beacon Press.
- Melrose, M.J. (2001). Maximizing the rigor of action research: Why would you want to? How could you? *Field Methods*, *13*(2), 160-180.
- Mertler, C. A. (2014). *Action research: Improving schools and empowering educators* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Mertler, C.A., & Charles, C.M. (2011) *Introduction to educational research* (7th ed). Boston: Allyn & Bacon.

- Miles, C. (1992). The fourth "R": Checklists for assessing thought in action. *Journal of Developmental Education*, 16(2), 32–33.
- Mills, G.E. (2011). *Action research: A guide for the teacher-researcher*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Merrill.
- Mirzaee, S. S., & Maftoon, P. P. (2016). An examination of Vygotsky's socio-cultural theory in second language acquisition: the role of higher-order thinking enhancing techniques and the EFL learners' use of private speech in the construction of reasoning. *Asian-Pacific Journal of Second & Foreign Language Education*, 1(1), 1-25. doi:10.1186/s40862-016-0022-7
- Moffett, J. (2015). Twelve tips for "flipping" the classroom. *Medical Teacher*, *37*(4), 331-336.
- Mueller, C., & Haines, R. T. (2012). Adolescent perceptions of family connectedness and school belonging: Links with self-concept and depressive symptoms among gifted African American and Hispanic youth. *Gifted Children*, *5*(2), 3.
- Mullet, D. R., Kettler, T., & Sabatini, A. (2018). Gifted Students' Conceptions of Their
 High School STEM Education. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 41(1), 60-92.
- National Association for Gifted Children. *Definitions of giftedness*. Retrieved from http://www.nagc.org/resources-publications/resources/definitions-giftedness
- National Commission on Excellence in Education. (1983). A Nation at Risk: The imperative for educational reform. Washington, DC: United States Government Printing Office.

- National Council of Teachers of Mathematics. (2000). *Principles and standards for school mathematics*. Reston, VA: National Council of Teachers of Mathematics.
 National Forum on Education Statistics. (2010). Forum guide to data ethics (NFES 2010–801). United States Department of Education. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics.
- National Research Council (2001). *Adding it up: Helping children learn mathematics*. Washington, SC: National Academies Press.
- Neill, M. (2003). Leaving children behind: How No Child Left Behind will fail our children. *The Phi Delta Kappan*, 85(3), 225-228.
- Newman, J. L. (2008). Talents are unlimited: It's time to teach thinking skills again! *Gifted Child Today*, *31*(3), 34-44.
- Nickerson, R. S. (1984). Kinds of thinking taught in current programs. *Educational Leadership*,42(1), 26-36.
- Naglieri, J. A., & Ford, D. Y. (2015). Misconceptions about the Nonverbal Ability Test: A commentary of concerns and disagreements. *Roeper Review*, 37(4), 234-240.
- Nyroos, M., Jonsson, B., Korhonen, J., & Eklöf, H. (2015). Children's mathematical achievement and how it relates to working memory, test anxiety and self-regulation: A person-centered approach. *Education Inquiry*, 6(1), 26026.
- O'Flaherty, J., & Phillips, C. (2015). The use of flipped classrooms in higher education: A scoping review. *The internet and higher education*, 25, 85-95.

Ojose, B. (2008). Applying Piaget's theory of cognitive development to mathematics instruction. *The Mathematics Educator*, *18*(1).

Pacht, A. R. (1984). Reflections on perfection. American psychologist, 39(4), 386.

- Parke, B.N. (2000). *Challenging gifted students in the regular classroom*. Retrieved April 26, 2008, from http://www.kidsource/content/challenging_gifted_kids.html
- Parker, W. D. (1997). An empirical typology of perfectionism in academically talented children. *American Educational Research Journal*, *34*(3), 545-562.
- Parpart, J. (1995). Post-modernism, gender and development. *Power of Development*, 253-65.
- Parsons, R. D., & Brown, K.S. (2002). Teacher as reflective practitioner and action research. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth/Thomson Learning.
- Partnership for 21st Century Skills (2008). 21st century skills, education, and competitiveness: A Resource and policy guide. Tucson, AZ: Author.
- Pascarella, E., and Terenzini, P. (1991). *How college affects students: Findings and insights from twenty years of research*. San Francisco, CA. Jossey Bass.
- Paul, R., & Elder, L. (2008). *Critical thinking concepts and tools* (5th ed.). Dillon Beach,CA: Foundation for Critical Thinking.
- Patten, M. (2005). Understanding research methods: An overview of the essentials (5th ed.). Glendale, CA: Pyrczak Pub.
- Peine, M. E. (2003). Doing grounded theory research with gifted students. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 26(3), 184-200.

Penny, Ur. (2005). A course in language teaching. Cambridge: London.

- Peterson, J. S. (2015). School counselors and gifted kids: Respecting both cognitive and affective. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 93(2), 153-162.
- Peterson, P. E., Woessmann, L., Hanushek, E. A., & Lastra-Anadón, C. X. (2011).
 Globally challenged: Are US students ready to compete? The latest on each state's international standing in math and reading. PEPG 11-03. *Program on Education Policy and Governance, Harvard University.*
- Persson, R. P. (2014). The needs of the highly able and the needs of society: A multidisciplinary analysis of talent differentiation and its significance to gifted education and issues of societal inequality. *Roeper Review*, *36*(1), 43-59. doi:10.1080/02783193.2013.856830
- Phillips, S. (2008). Are we holding back our students that possess the potential to excel?. *Education*, *129*(1), 50-55.
- Piaget, J. (1952). The origins of intelligence in children, 8(5), 18. New York: International Universities Press.
- Pierce, D. (2016). Connect the credentials: A new effort aims to change the nation's fragmented credentialing system. *Community College Journal*, 86(3), 24-28.
- Pomortseva, N. P. (2014). Teaching gifted children in regular classroom in the USA. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *143*, 147-151.
- Rafidi, M. (2008). Gifted achievement and underachievement in the classroom. *English in Australia*, *43*(2), 63.

- Rambo-Hernandez, K. E., & McCoach, D. B. (2015). High-achieving and average students' reading growth: Contrasting school and summer trajectories. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 108(2), 112-129.
- Ravitch, D. (2010). The death and life of the great American school system: How testing and choice are undermining education. Philadelphia, PA: Basic Books.
- Reis, S. M., Burns, D. E., & Renzulli, J. S. (1993). Curriculum compacting: The complete guide to modifying the regular curriculum for high ability students.
 Hawker Brownlow Education, Creative Learning Press.
- Reis, S. M., Gubbins, E. J., Briggs, C. J., Schreiber, F. J., Richards, S., Jacobs, J. K., ... & Renzulli, J. S. (2004). Reading instruction for talented readers: Case studies documenting few opportunities for continuous progress. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 48(4), 315-338.
- Reis, S. M., Kaplan, S. N., Tomlinson, C. A., Westberg, K. L., Callahan, C. M., & Cooper, C. R. (1998). Equal does not mean identical. *Educational Leadership*, 56, 74-78.
- Reis, S. M., & Renzulli, J. S. (1992). Using curriculum compacting to challenge the above average. *Educational Leadership*, 50(2), 51-57.
- Reis, S. M., & Renzulli, J. S. (1995). Curriculum compacting: A systematic procedure for modifying the curriculum for above average ability students. *The Journal of the California Association for the Gifted*, 26(2), 27-32.
- Renzulli, J. S., & Reis, S. M. (2017). The schoolwide enrichment model: A focus on student creative productivity, strengths, and interests. In Carolyn M. Callahan &

Holly L. Hertberg-Davis, *Fundamentals of Gifted Education* (pp. 200-212). New York, NY:Routledge.

- Renzulli, J. S., & Reis, S. M. (1997). The schoolwide enrichment model: A how-to guide for educational excellence. Mansfield Center, CT: Creative Learning Press.
- Reis, S. M., & Westberg, K. L. (1994). The impact of staff development on teachers' ability to modify curriculum for gifted and talented students. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 38(3), 127-135.
- Reis, S. M., Westberg, K. L., Kulikowich, J. M., & Purcell, J. H. (1998). Curriculum compacting and achievement test scores: What does the research say? *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 42, 123-129
- Renzulli, J. S. (1978). What makes giftedness? Reexamining a definition. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 60(3), 180.
- Renzulli, J. S. (1982). Curriculum Compacting: an essential strategy for working with gifted students. *Elementary School Journal*, 82,185-194.

doi:10.1086/461256

- Renzulli, J. S. (2011). What makes giftedness? Reexamining a definition. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 92(8), 81-88.
- Renzulli, J. S., & Smith, L. H. (1978). A guidebook for developing individualized educational programs for gifted and talented students. Mansfield Center, CT: Creative Learning Press.

- Renzulli, J. S., & Reis, S. M. (1985). The schoolwide enrichment model: A comprehensive plan for educational excellence. Mansfield Center, CT: Creative Learning Press.
- Renzulli, J. S., & Reis, S. M. (1994). Research related to the schoolwide enrichment triad Model 1.*Gifted Child Quarterly*, 38(1), 7-20.
- Renzulli, J. S., Smith, L. H., & Reis, S. M. (1982). Curriculum compacting: An essential strategy for working with gifted students. *The Elementary School Journal*, 82(3), 185-194.
- Resnick, L. B. (1987). *Education and learning to think*. Washington, DC, National Academy Press. USA.
- Reys, R. E., Reys, B. J., Emanuelsson, G., Johansson, B., McIntosh, A., & Yang, D. C. (1999). Assessing number sense of students in Australia, Sweden, Taiwan, and the United States. *School Science and Mathematics*, 99(2), 61-70.
- Richardson, F. C., & Suinn, R. M. (1972). The mathematics anxiety rating scale: psychometric data. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 19(6), 551.
- Rimm-Kaufman, S. E., Baroody, A. E., Larsen, R. A., Curby, T. W., & Abry, T. (2015).
 To what extent do teacher–student interaction quality and student gender
 contribute to fifth graders' engagement in mathematics learning?. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *107*(1), 170.

Riley, T., Bevan-Brown, J., Bicknell, B., Carroll-Lind, J., & Kearney, A. (2004). The extent, nature and effectiveness of planned approaches in New Zealand schools for providing for gifted and talented students: Report to the Ministry of Education. Wellington: Ministry of Education.

- Rimm, S. B. (2003). Underachievement: A national epidemic. In N. Golangelo & G.A.Davis (eds.), *Handbook of gifted education* (424-443). Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Ross, P. (1994). National excellence: The case for developing America's talent. (An anthology of readings). Washington, DC: United States Government Printing Office.
- Rubinsten, O., Eidlin, H., Wohl, H., & Akibli, O. (2015). Attentional bias in math anxiety. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *6*, 1539.
- Rubenstein, L. D., Siegle, D., Reis, S. M., Mccoach, D. B., & Burton, M. G. (2012). A complex quest: The development and research of underachievement interventions for gifted students. *Psychology in the Schools*, 49(7), 678-694.

Samuda, R. J. (1975). *Testing of American minorities*. New York: Dodd-Mead.

- Santín, M., & Torruella, M. (2017). Reggio Emilia: An essential tool to develop critical thinking in early childhood. *Journal of New Approaches in Educational Research*, 6(1), 50-56. doi:10.7821/naer.2017.1.207
- Sarason, I. G. (1984). Stress, anxiety, and cognitive interference: Reactions to tests. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, *46*(4), 929.
- Sawyer, R. D. (2013). Learning to walk the talk: Designing a teacher leadership Edd program as a laboratory of practice. *Planning & Changing*, 44.
- Scardamalia, M., Bereiter, C., & Steinbach, R. (1984). Teachability of reflective processes in written composition. *Cognitive science*, 8(2), 173-190.
- Schmuck, R.A. (1997). *Practical action research for change*. Arlington Heights, IL: SkyLight Professional Development.

- Schulz, H. W., & FitzPatrick, B. (2016). Teachers' understandings of critical and higher order thinking and what this means for their teaching and assessments. *Alberta Journal of Educational Research*, 62(1), 61-86.
- Schwandt, T. A., Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (2007). Judging interpretations: But is it rigorous? Trustworthiness and authenticity in naturalistic evaluation. *New directions for evaluation*, *114*, 11-25. doi:10.1002/ev.223
- Seeley, K.R. (1993). Gifted students at risk. In L.K. Silverman (ed.), *Counseling the gifted and talented* (263-276). Denver CO: Love Publishing.
- Seeley, K. (2003). High risk gifted learners. In N. Colangelo & G. A. Davis (Eds.), Handbook of gifted education, 3, 444-454.
- Sherman, H.J., Richardson, L.I., & Yard, G.J. (May 2014). Pearson Allyn Beacon Prentice Hall.
- Siegle, D., McCoach, D. B., & Roberts, A. (2017). Why I achieve determines whether I achieve. *High Ability Studies*, 28, 59–

72. https://doi.org/10.1080/13598139.2017.1302873

- Silverman, L. K. (2003). Gifted children with learning disabilities. In N. Colangelo &G. A. Davis (eds.), *Handbook of gifted education*, *3*, 533-543. Boston, MA:Allyn and Bacon.
- Sisk, D. (1988). The bored and disinterested gifted child: Going through school lockstep. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, *11*,5-18.
- Sisson, D., & Sisson, B. (2015). Re-envisioning the Literacy Block: A Guide to Maximizing Instruction in Grades K-8. Routledge.

- Smith, L. M. (2014). Giftedness and globalisation: The challenge of cultural diversity for gifted education programmes in a neoliberal educational marketplace. *Gifted Education International*, 30(3), 197-211.
- Smith, L.M., & Campbell, R. J. (2016). So-called giftedness and teacher education: Issues of equity and inclusion. *Teachers & Teaching*, 22(2), 255-267. doi:10.1080/13540602.2015.1055448
- Smulyan, L. (1983). Action research on change in schools: A collaborative project.Montreal, Quebec.
- Soder, R. (1990). The rhetoric of teacher professionalization. In J. Goodland, R. Soder,K. Sirotnik (eds.), *The moral dimmersion of teaching (pp.* 35-86) SanFrancisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Sood, S., & Jitendra, A. K. (2007). A comparative analysis of number sense instruction in reform-based and traditional mathematics textbooks. *The Journal of Special Education*, 41(3), 145-157.
- South Carolina Department of Education. (2016). *State Report Cards*. https://ed.sc.gov/data/report-cards/historic-school-reportcards/2016/view/?y=2016&d=4002&t=D&s=000:
- Sowder, J. T., & Schappelle, B. P. (1989). Establishing foundations for research on number sense and related topics. Report of a conference (San Diego, California, February 16-17, 1989).
- Speirs Neumeister, K. L., Williams, K. K., & Cross, T. L. (2009). Gifted high-school students' perspectives on the development of perfectionism. *Roeper Review*, 31(4), 198-206.

- Spring, J. (2014). *The American school: A global context from the puritans to the Obama administration* (9th ed.). New York, NY: McGraw Hill.
- Stamps, L. S. (2004). The effectiveness of curriculum compacting in first grade classrooms. *Roeper Review*, 27(1), 31-41.
- Stella, M. E., & Fleming, M. R. (2011). Clarity in mathematics instruction: The impact of teaching number sense and place value skills on elementary school students. *Online Submission*.
- Stenhouse, L. (1975). An introduction to curriculum research and development. Heinemann Educational Publishers. Portsmouth, NH.
- Stephens, K. R. (2011). Federal and state response to the gifted and talented. *Journal of Applied School Psychology*, 27(4), 306-318.
- Stephens, K. R., & Karnes, F. A. (2000). State definitions for the gifted and talented revisited. *Exceptional children*, 66(2), 219-238.
- Sternberg, R. J. (1995). The sound of silence: A nation responds to its gifted. *Roeper Review*, 18, 168-172.
- Sternberg, R. J., & Davidson, J. E. (Eds.). (2005). Conceptions of giftedness. Cambridge University Press.
- Stornes, T., & Bru, E. (2011). Perceived motivational climates and self-reported emotional and behavioural problems among Norwegian secondary school students. *School Psychology International*, 32(4), 425-438.

Stringer, E. T. (2007). Action research (3rd ed.). Thousands Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Struck, J. (2003). Incorporating higher-order process skills into content. In J. Vantassel-Baska & C. A. Little (eds.), *Content-based curriculum for high ability learners* (47-78). Washington, DC: Prufrock Press.
- Subban, P. K. (2006). Differentiated instruction: A research basis. *International education journal*, 7(7), 935-947.

Subban, P. K., & Round, P. N. (2015). Differentiated instruction at work. Reinforcing the art of classroom observation through the creation of a checklist for beginning and pre-service teachers. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 40(5), 7.

Sullivan, A. L., & Sadeh, S. S. (2014). Is there evidence to support the use of social skills interventions for students with emotional disabilities? *Journal of Applied School Psychology*, 30(2), 107-131.

Sutton, K. K. (2000). Curriculum compacting. Science Scope, 24(4), 22-27.

- Taba, H. (1962). Curriculum development: Theory and practice. New York: Harcourt, Brace & World.
- Taba, H., Brady, E. H., & Robinson, J. T. (1952). Intergroup education in public schools: Theory practice and in-service education. American Council on Education.
- Taylor, B. M., & Frye. B. J. (1988). Pretesting: Minimize time spent on skill work for intermediate readers. *The Reading Teacher*, 42(2). 100-103.
- Tempel, T., & Neumann, R. (2016). Taming test anxiety: The activation of failurerelated concepts enhances cognitive test performance of test-anxious students. *The Journal of Experimental Education*, 84(4), 702-722.

- Thompson, T. (2011). An analysis of higher-order thinking on algebra I end-of-course tests. Retrieved October 13, 2018, Retrieved from http://www.cimt.plymouth.ac.uk/journal/default.htmTieso, C. (2005). The effects of grouping practices and curricular adjustments on achievement. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 29(1), 60-89.
- Tikunoff, W. J., Ward, B. A., & Griffin; G. A. (1979). Interactive research and development on teaching study: Final report. San Francisco: Far West Laboratory for Educational Research and Development.
- Tirri, K., & Kuusisto, E. (2013). How Finland serves gifted and talented pupils. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 36(1), 84-96.
- Tomlinson, C.A. (1995). Action research and practical inquiry: An overview and an invitation to teachers of gifted learners. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted, 18*, 467-484.
- Tomlinson, C. A. (2005). Quality curriculum and instruction for highly able students. *Theory into practice*, *44*(2), 160-166.
- Tomlinson, C. A. (2008). The goals of differentiation. *Educational Leadership*, 66(3), 26-30.
- Tomlinson, C. A. (2015). Teaching for excellence in academically diverse classrooms. *Society*, *52*(3), 203-209.
- Toth, N. W. (1999). Gifted education: A critical discussion. Portales, NM: Eastern New Mexico University. (ERIC Document Reproduction Services No. ED430331).

Troxclair, D. A. (2000). Differentiating instruction for gifted students in regular

education social studies classes. Roeper Review, 22(3), 195-198.

- Tsui, J. M., & Mazzocco, M. M. (2006). Effects of math anxiety and perfectionism on timed versus untimed math testing in mathematically gifted sixth graders. *Roeper Review*, 29(2), 132-139.
- United States Department of Education, Office of Educational Research and Improvement. (1993). National excellence: A case for developing America's talent. Washington, DC: United States Government Printing Office.
- VanTassel-Baska, J. J. (1992a). Educational decision making on acceleration and grouping. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 36(2), 68-72.
- VanTassel-Baska, J. J. (1992b). *Planning effective curriculum for gifted learners*. Denver, CO: Love Publishing Co.
- Vantassel-Baska, J. J. (2003). Content based curriculum for high-ability learners: An introduction. In J. Vantassel-Baska & C. A. Little (eds.), *Content-based curriculum for high ability learners* (1-25). Washington, DC: Prufrock Press.
- VanTassel-Baska, J. (2018). American Policy in Gifted Education. *Gifted Child Today*, *41*(2), 98-103.
- VanTassel-Baska, J. J., & Hubbard, G. F. (2016). Classroom-based strategies for advanced learners in rural settings. *Journal of Advanced Academics*, 27(4), 285-310. doi:10.1177/1932202X16657645
- Vogelaar, B., Bakker, M., Elliott, J. G., & Resing, W. C. (2017). Dynamic testing and test anxiety amongst gifted and average-ability children. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 87(1), 75-89.

- Vogler, K. E. (2005). Impact of an accountability examination on Tennessee social studies teachers' instructional practices. *Research in the Schools*, *12*(2), 41-55.
- Vogler, K. E., & Virtue, D. (2007). "Just the facts, ma'am": Teaching social studies in the era of standards and high-stakes testing. *The Social Studies*, *98*(2), 54-58.

Vygotsky, L. S. (1978) Mind in society: The development of higher mental processes.

- Wai, J., & Worrell, F. C. (2016). Helping disadvantaged and spatially talented students fulfill their potential: Related and neglected national resources. *Policy Insights from the Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 3(1), 122-128.
- Walkowiak, T. T. (2016). Common core brief: The place-value progression. *Teaching Children Mathematics*, 22(8), 453-456. doi:10.5951/teacchilmath.22.8.0453
- Wallace, B. & Pierce, J. (1992). The changing nature of giftedness: An examination of various strategies for provision. *Gifted Education International*, 8, 64-71.
- Warner, S., & Kaur, A. (2017). The perceptions of teachers and students on a 21st Century mathematics instructional model. *International Electronic Journal of Mathematics Education*, 12(2), 193-215.
- Watson, G., & Glaser, G. M. (1994). The Watson Glaser critical thinking appraisal. Cleveland, OH: Psychology Corporation.
- Westberg, K. L., Archambault, F. X., Jr., Dobyns, S. M., & Salvin, T. J. (1993). The classroom practices observation study. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 16, 29–56.
- White, D. A. (2010). Gifted education: Thinking (with help from Aristotle) about critical thinking. *Gifted Child Today*, *33*(3), 14-19.

- Willis, S. (1995). Mainstreaming the gifted. Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development Education Update, 37(2), pp. 1-5.
- Winebrenner, S. (2000). Gifted students need an education, too. *Educational leadership*, 58(1), 52-56.
- Winebrenner, S. (2001). *Teaching gifted kids in the regular classroom: Strategies and techniques every teacher can use to meet the academic needs of the gifted and talented. Revised, expanded.* Minneapolis, MN: Free Spirit Publishing Inc.
- Winebrenner, S. (2003). *Teaching gifted kids in the regular classroom*. Minneapolis,MN: Free Spirit Publishing.
- Winebrenner, S. (2014). Teaching Kids with Learning Difficulties in Today's Classroom: How Every Teacher Can Help Struggling Students Succeed. Free Spirit Publishing: Golden Valley, MN.
- Winebrenner, S., & Berger, S. (1994). *Providing curriculum alternatives to motivate* gifted students. ERIC Clearinghouse. *Reston, VA*
- Winebrenner, S., & Devlin, B. (1998). Cluster grouping of gifted students: How to provide full-time services on a part-time budget. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 30(3), 62-65.
- Wirt, F. M., & Kirst, M. W. (1982). Schools in conflict: The politics of education. *Education Digest*, 49(3), 68.
- Wu, E. H. (2013). The path leading to differentiation: An interview with Carol Tomlinson. *Journal of Advanced Academics*, 24(2), 125-133.
- Yeager, E. A., and O. L. Davis. 2005. *Wise social studies teaching in an age of high stakes testing*. Greenwich, CT: Information Age.

- Yen, T. S., & Halili, S. H. (2015). Effective teaching of higher order thinking (HOT) in education. *The Online Journal of Distance Education and e-Learning*, 3(2), 41-47.
- Zeidner, M., & Schleyer, E. J. (1999). The big-fish–little-pond effect for academic self-concept, test anxiety, and school grades in gifted children. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 24(4), 305-329.
- Ziegler, A., Ziegler, A., & Stoeger, H. (2012). Shortcomings of the IQ-based construct of underachievement. *Roeper Review*, *34*(2), 123-132.
- Zuber-Skerrit, O. (1992). *Improving learning and teaching through action research*. Draft paper for the HERDSA Conference 1992 University of Queensland.

APPENDIX A: Parental Consent Form (adapted from Mertler, 2014)



University of South Carolina College of Education College of Education Columbia, SC 29208 (803) 777-3828

My name is Anthony James, and I am a graduate student at the University of South Carolina. I am conducting a research study to examine The Impact of Curriculum Compacting on Higher Order Thinking Skills of 3rd grade students. I intend to collect data through the PROJECT M3: MENTORING MATHEMATICAL MINDS unit, Unraveling the Mystery of the Moli Stone. It is an in-depth unit on the importance of base systems and place value. I am formally asking for your permission to allow you child to participate in this study.

If your child is permitted to participate, their identity will never be revealed; any identifying information will be removed for confidentiality purposes. I only intend to use information from this study to improve educational practices and make appropriate decisions for your child. Also, the information obtained from this study will be kept private and will only be reported in statistical evaluations. All data will be physically and/or digitally locked.

If you choose not to allow your child to participate in this study, it will not affect your child's grades nor their relationship with their teacher. You may choose to withdraw your child from the study at any time without penalty.

Do you have any questions? (Circle one)

YES

NO

If you have questions or concerns regarding your child's rights as a research participant, you may contact me at (803) 394-9857 or <u>aljames@email.sc.edu</u>.

Sincerely,

Anthony James

Please sign below if you give consent for your child to participate in the above-referenced study.

I	AGREE	DO NOT AGREE	(circle one) to participate in this research study.
Dor	ticinant's Nome	(plages print);	Data

Participant's Name (please print):	Date:Date:
Particinant's Signature	

APPENDIX B: Site Approval Letter



University of South Carolina College of Education College of Education Columbia, SC 29208 (803) 777-3828

Ms. Jackson, Principal Langford Elementary 480 Langford Rd. Blythewood, SC 29106 RE: Permission to Conduct Research Study

Dear Ms. Jackson:

I am writing to request permission to conduct a research study at Langford Elementary. I am currently enrolled in the Curriculum and Instruction Program at the University of South Carolina, and I am in the process of writing my dissertation. The study is titled The Impact of Curriculum Compacting on Higher Order Thinking Skills. I request to use my ALERT students as participants in my study.

Families will be given a consent form to be signed by the parent or guardian (copy enclosed) and returned to the primary researcher at the beginning of the process. If the parent/guardian grants approval, student participants will complete a pretest in the classroom. The pretest results will be pooled for the research project and individual results of this study will remain absolutely confidential and anonymous. Should this study be published, only pooled results will be documented. No costs will be incurred by either Langford or the individual participants.

Your approval to conduct this study would be greatly appreciated. If you have any additional questions or concerns, I would be happy to address them. You may contact me at my email or phone (803-394-9857).

If you agree, please sign below and return the signed form. Additionally, if you don't mind, please send a signed letter of permission on Langford's letterhead acknowledging your consent and permission for me to conduct this study at your school. I appreciate your time.

Sincerely,

Anthony L. Jemer

Anthony James

APPENDIX C: Richland School District Two's Approval Letter



January 31, 2018

Anthony James aljams@email.sc.edu

Re: Research Request

Mr. James,

The Richland Two Research Committee has approved your application to conduct research in our district. You are authorized to invite the parents of Richland School District Two elementary ALERT students to allow their children to participate in this study. Parents must provide written affirmative consent and their participation will be voluntary and at their own discretion. You must maintain possession of the signed consent form(s) for a minimum of three years following the conclusion of your research.

Please provide a copy of this letter to the principals of Langford and North Springs so they will know that you have received permission from the Richland Two Research Committee to recruit families and teachers for participation. Please be aware that although the research has committee has approved you research request, Richland Two principals always have the final word on whether or not research may be conducted on their campus.

The committee reserves the right to terminate the study at any time if circumstances change or the members feel it is in the best interest of our students. You must complete all research activities in the district on or before June 30, 2018. If you need to conduct research activities beyond that date, you must ask the Richland Two Research Committee for an extension. Finally, you must submit a copy of all final reports, dissertations, or publications based on this research to me upon completion of your study.

Sincerely,

John H. Andd

John G. Arnold, Ph.D. Director of Accountability and Assessment

Location: 763 Fashion Drive Columbia, SC 29229 Mail: 124 Risdon Way Columbia, SC 29223 Contact: (803) 787-1910 www.richland.org

APPENDIX D: UNIT ASSESSMENT

-1	-					
	-22	a	2	з	Ø	
	44		s	æ	u	

Date

2. Raphael and Sara are playing a grouping game. In this game:

3	Gickles	REGISSE X201005	1	Bickle
3	Bickles	antipa Entreta	1	Rickle

On each turn they roll a die to find out how many gickles to **ADD** to their game mat. They must regroup and trade if possible to have the **LEAST** number of tiles on their game mat.

Raphael's Game Mat

Rickles	Bickles	Gickles

Rickles	Bickles	Gickles

a. During Sara's turn she tells Raphael that she has a greater value of tiles on her mat. Is Sara right? Explain why or why not.

Copyright © Kendall/Hunt Publishing Company

Project M³: MoLi Stone

Unit Overview 35

c. Sara and Raphael decide to change the game to use **SUBTRACTION.** This is Raphael's game mat before his turn.

Rickles	Ricklas	Gickles
	5	

Raphael's Game Mat

Raphael has to **SUBTRACT** five gickles from his mat. Draw a picture below showing how he should regroup and trade his tiles so that he will have the **LEAST** number of tiles on his mat.

Raphael's Game Mat

Rickles	Bickles	Gickles

Answer: _

Copyright @ Kendall/Hunt Publishing Company

Number of Rickles Nu

Number of Bickles

Number of Gickles

Project M³: MoLi Stone

Unit Overview 37
APPENDIX E: UNIT TEST RUBRIC

Unit Test Rubric: MoLi Stone

Question 1

Problem	Mathematical Focus	
	Points	Expected Student Response
1a (max 1)	Focus: understanding of place value and computation	
	1	116 is the largest sum, e.g. 52 + 64 or 62 + 54 = 116
1b (max 2)	Focus: understanding of place value where the digit 5 has a value of 50 and the digit 6 has a value of 60. Although the commutative property is correct (1-point answer), the understanding is not as advanced as the 2-point answer.	
	2	Lists 52 and 64 as addends <u>and</u> 62 and 54 as addends (collectively listed in either 1a or 1b). For example, 52 + 64 and 62 + 54. OR
	1	Lists $52 + 64$ and $64 + 52$ or $62 + 54$ and $54 + 62$ (collectively listed in either 1a or 1b).
		Note: It is assumed students have misconceptions if they include either any addends that do not add up to 116 or make a computation error. Therefore, 1 point should be deducted. The total score, however, should <u>not</u> be a negative value. For example, if a student lists 52 and 64 along with 62 and 54 (a 2-point answer) and also includes addends that do not add up to 116 (deduct 1 point), the total score for 1b should be 1 point.
1c (max 4)	Focus: understanding of place value where the digit 4 has a value of 40 and the digit 5 has a value of 50 and placing the 7 in the tens place increases the value of the sum by a multiple of ten (versus by ones if placed in the ones place). Replacing the 4 would increase the sum by 30 and replacing the 5 would only increase it by 20.	
	2	Replaces the 4 tens with the 7. OR
	1	Replaces the 5 tens with 7.
	2	Explains, "Four tens is less than 5 tens so replacing the 4 tens creates a larger value" or "I replaced the 4 with the 7 because it was the smaller value in the tens place." Must compare with replacing the 5 by indicating it is a larger value.
		Compares 118 with 128 (i.e., the resulting sums if the 7 replaces the 5 and 4 respectively). Must indicate that 128 is larger than 118.
	1	Explains, "The tens place has a larger value than the ones place." OR States, "If I replace the 5 with the 7, I only get 118, and if I replace the 4 with the 7, I get 128," but no comparison between the sums 118 and 128 is clearly indicated.

TOTAL NUMBER OF POINTS: 7

Project M³: MoLi Stone

Copyright © Kendall/Hunt Publishing Company

Unit Overview 39



Project M³: MoLi Stone

Copyright @ Kendail/Hunt Publishing Company

Unit Overview 41